

### **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

# Effective Internet Marketing Strategies for Online Fashion Jewelry Businesses

Zohreh Daemi Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



**O**Part of the <u>Advertising and Promotion Management Commons</u>, and the <u>Marketing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Zohreh Daemi

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Susan Fan, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jorge Gaytan, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janie Hall, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

#### Abstract

Effective Internet Marketing Strategies for Online Fashion Jewelry Businesses

by

Zohreh Daemi

MBA, Texas Woman's University, 2014

BA, Payame-Noor University, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2018

#### Abstract

Small business owners who fail to apply effective Internet marketing strategies could negatively affect customers' purchasing decisions, and business profitability and sustainability. The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore effective Internet marketing strategies online fashion jewelry business owners used to maintain or increase profit levels. Competitive advantage theory was the conceptual framework for the study. Data were collected via semistructured interviews with 3 online fashion jewelry business owners located in the northeastern region of the United States who were in the same business for more than 5 years and generated at least \$100,000 in annual revenue. Additionally, data were collected with a review of company documents pertaining to the profit levels of the businesses. Data were analyzed using word frequency and coding to determine themes. Six key themes emerged from the data: (a) Internet marketing strategies, (b) social media marketing strategies, (c) market research and retargeting strategies, (d) brand building strategies, (e) e-mail marketing strategies, and (f) marketing strategies for customer relationship management. The implications of this study for positive social change include the potential to create jobs and economic growth. The findings of this study could increase the quality of life for stay-at-home parents or assist disadvantaged individuals who host online businesses by offering proven Internet marketing strategies to increase their business longevity, profitability, and potentially lead to stronger and safer communities.

## Effective Internet Marketing Strategies for Online Fashion Jewelry Businesses

by

#### Zohreh Daemi

MBA, Texas Woman's University, 2014

BA, Payame-Noor University, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2018

#### Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my husband Nima, my daughter Nadia, my parents, and my siblings. My husband Nima is my biggest supporter, and I would not be where I am today without his love and friendship. To my daughter Nadia, I want you to know that there are no limits to what you can achieve if you stay focused on doing your best. So, aim high and dream big dreams. To my mom Tooba, you were my first cheerleader. You always showed me the right path and gave me the words of wisdom to achieve my highest educational goal. I am sure that you are watching me from Heaven and sending me good vibes. I will truly miss you on my graduation day. To my father Mirza Ali, who worked hard and did everything he could to provide my siblings and me a comfortable life. To my sisters Masoumeh and Maryam, and to my brothers Morteza and Reza, who always showered me with their love and supported me in all aspects of my life. I love you all.

#### Acknowledgments

First, I want to thank God for performing miracles in my life every day. I would like to thank Dr. Susan Fan, my committee chairperson, for always being understanding, supportive, and sweet. I could not imagine getting to the end of my doctoral journey without her guidance. To Dr. Jorge Gaytan, Dr. Charlotte Carlstrom, Dr. Denise Hackett, and Dr. Janie Hall for spending countless hours reviewing my doctoral study and providing constructive feedback. To Dr. Ilana Oren, who encouraged me, supported me, and inspired me during my doctoral journey. I would like to thank my study participants and let them know that I understand how successful and busy you are and your participation was like a miracle that happened in my educational and professional life.

## Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	V
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Method	3
	Design	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contribution to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	8
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
	Overview of Competitive Advantage Theory	11

Importance of Small Business Owners' Characteristics	18
Social Commerce	19
Internet Marketing	21
Social Media Marketing	24
Customer Relationship Management	34
Advertising Strategies	41
Brand Management	42
Cause-Related Marketing	43
Data Mining	44
Transition	46
Section 2: The Project	47
Purpose Statement	47
Role of the Researcher	47
Participants	50
Research Method and Design	52
Research Method	52
Research Design	53
Population and Sampling	55
Sampling	55
Criteria for Selecting Participants	55
Interview Setting	56
Data Saturation	56

Ethical Research	57
Data Collection Instruments	58
Data Collection Technique	60
Data Organization Technique	62
Data Analysis	63
Reliability and Validity	65
Reliability	65
Validity	66
Transition and Summary	67
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Cha	ange68
Introduction	68
Presentation of the Findings	68
Theme 1: Internet Marketing Strategies	69
Theme 2: Social Media Marketing Strategies	72
Theme 3: Market Research and Retargeting Strategies	75
Theme 4: Brand Building Strategies	77
Theme 5: E-mail Marketing Strategies	79
Theme 6: Marketing Strategies for Customer Relationship Mana	agement 82
Applications to Professional Practice	84
Implications for Social Change	866
Recommendations for Action	877
Recommendations for Further Research	89

Reflections	90
Conclusion	91
References	92
Appendix: Interview Protocol	125

## List of Tables

Tabla 1	Tymas	and Ca	unta of	Dafaranaaa		1	
I able I	. Types	s anu Cc	unts of	Kererences	 	 1	

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small business owners' implementation of effective Internet marketing strategies is critical to the success of any business, directly affecting customers' purchasing decisions, profitability, and sustainability (Eid & El-Gohary, 2013). Perry (2014) stated there is a positive and meaningful relationship between companies' sales performance and the implementation of effective marketing strategies. Business owners use Internet marketing strategies to build strong relations with customers by using low-cost individualized online communication (Perry, 2014). The purpose of this study was to explore effective Internet marketing strategies online fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or increase profit levels. Identifying effective Internet marketing strategies may contribute to economic growth and create more jobs. The findings from this study may be used to increase household income and tax revenue and to balance the state budget.

#### **Background of the Problem**

According to the U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA; 2016), almost 50% of small businesses do not survive beyond 5 years. Small marketing budget, lack of effective Internet marketing strategies, and lack of owners' marketing knowledge are the primary reasons for business failures. Internet, social media, and relationship marketing are critical to the success of any business (Perry, 2014). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to provide knowledge and insights for online fashion jewelry business owners. Insights included effective Internet marketing strategies that participants used to reach sustainability and profitability in the areas of marketing theories,

advertising strategies, Internet marketing, social media marketing, and customer relationship marketing.

#### **Problem Statement**

Implementing effective Internet marketing strategies is critical for small business owners' prosperity (Perry, 2014). Eighty-four percent of small business owners indicated that ineffective marketing strategies led to their business failures (Cant, Wiid, & Kallier, 2015). The general business problem was that some online fashion jewelry business owners fail to implement effective Internet marketing strategies to promote their products. The specific business problem was that some online fashion jewelry business owners lack effective Internet marketing strategies to maintain or increase profit levels.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore effective

Internet marketing strategies online fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or
increase profit levels. The sample included three online fashion jewelry business owners
located in the northeastern region of the United States with successful experience in using
effective Internet marketing strategies to maintain or increase profit levels. The
implications for positive social change are an increase in sustainability and profitability,
which may lead to stronger communities through job creation, economic growth, and a
stable economy. The implementation of the study findings may lead to increase
household incomes and tax revenues and to balanced state budgets.

#### **Nature of the Study**

#### Method

Research methodologies include quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (Holt & Goulding, 2014). With the quantitative method, researchers collect, analyze, and interpret data to test hypotheses about variables' relationships or differences (Murshed & Zhang, 2016). In the qualitative method, researchers try to explain *what, why,* or *how* a phenomenon occurred (Yin, 2018). The mixed method is a combination of qualitative and quantitative research methods (Holt & Goulding, 2014). Researchers use the quantitative method to test the level of evidence supporting hypotheses and theories regarding defined populations (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). The quantitative and mixed-methods approaches were not suitable for this study because the focus of the quantitative method is analyzing numerical data. Researchers can ask open-ended questions and draw conclusions by implementing the qualitative research method (Yin, 2018). The qualitative research method was advantageous and appropriate for this study because achieving the research purpose requires collecting and analyzing specific insight into the thoughts, knowledge, and experiences of online fashion jewelry business owners.

#### Design

Several research study designs are available for the qualitative research method.

Researchers use the phenomenological design to understand what people experience about a phenomenon and how they perceive and interpret those experiences (VanScoy & Evenstad, 2015). Ethnographers study people's experiences and social practices inside of organizations and groups (Aij, Visse, & Widdershoven, 2015). Narrative researchers

focus on the lives of individuals related through personal stories (Seal & Mattimoe, 2016). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study because I was not exploring people's lived experiences about a phenomenon. This study is not about people's experiences inside groups and is not about personal stories regarding the lives of individuals. Therefore, ethnography and narrative design were not suitable for this study. Qualitative case study researchers ask open-ended questions to explore the patterns of complex behaviors and identify similarities and differences among cases (Yin, 2018). Multiple case study was an appropriate design for this study because I explored the strategies that online fashion jewelry business owners developed and implemented to maintain or increase profitability.

#### **Research Ouestion**

What effective Internet marketing strategies do online fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or increase profitability?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What Internet marketing strategies do you use to maintain or improve sustainability for your business?
- 2. What Internet marketing strategies do you use to maintain or improve profitability for your business?
- 3. What Internet marketing strategies do you use to attract new customers?
- 4. What Internet marketing strategies do you use to retain your customers?
- 5. What Internet marketing strategies have you applied to obtain a competitive advantage?

6. What additional information regarding Internet marketing strategies would you like to share?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The theory used as the conceptual framework for this study was the competitive advantage theory. The competitive advantage theory contains three general strategies including focus strategy, differentiation strategy, and cost leadership (Porter, 1985).

Porter (1985) stated that competitive advantage theory is the set of an organization's competitive abilities to create value for the customers at competitive production costs.

Most companies' strategic planners have created various types of competitive advantage to remain successful for the long term (Corderio, 2013). Business owners create competitive advantages by implementing focus strategy, differentiation strategy, or cost leadership strategy to increase profitability (Tanwar, 2013).

Managers apply the focus strategy by selecting a distinctive target market, recognizing unique consumer needs, and providing services to the target market. The selected target customers are a small niche with unique unfilled needs who are willing to pay more money for products and services that are unavailable from other companies (Porter, 1985). A company can apply a differentiation strategy by offering better products or services compared to other companies. Companies that exercise the differentiation strategy can charge customers premium prices because they provide high quality in fast pace or unique products. Customer service, innovation, and quality of the products and services lead companies to achieve differentiation. Implementing the cost leadership strategy enables companies to constantly improve operational abilities by offering decent

value at a reasonable price (Tanwar, 2013). By using the competitive advantage theory, I explained how online fashion jewelry business owners implemented marketing strategies to raise the demand for their products, to increase market share, and to maintain or improve business profitability and sustainability.

#### **Operational Definitions**

This section contains frequently used terms in the area of marketing strategies in online fashion jewelry businesses. The definitions of the terms came from books, government websites, and peer-reviewed articles.

Consumer reviews: A form of customer feedback on e-commerce sites about a product or service based on personal experiences of purchasing and using products or services (Pousttchi & Hufenbach, 2014).

Electronic word of mouth (e-WOM): Informal online discussion among consumers about products and services (You, Vadakkepatt, & Joshi, 2015).

Internet marketing (IM): The implementation of the Internet and related technologies to create, communicate, and deliver value to customers. Websites, banner advertising, social media marketing, search engine marketing, e-mail marketing, and mobile marketing are examples of Internet marketing (Eid & El-Gohary, 2013).

*Marketing strategy:* A comprehensive set of marketing activities demonstrated in a business plan to achieve marketing goals and objectives (Xun, 2014).

Small business: An organization with fewer than 500 employees (SBA, 2011). For the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study, a small business is an organization with fewer than 20 employees.

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### Assumptions

Researchers acknowledge assumed claims in the study to avoid misrepresentations (Pyrczak & Bruce, 2017). I made three assumptions in this study. First, all participants engaged in the interview truthfully. Second, all participants operate systematic marketing programs for their company and have adequate knowledge about the topic of this study. Third, all participants were enthusiastic about sharing their knowledge in this study.

#### Limitations

Limitations are weaknesses that affect a study's validity and transferability (Hesse-Biber, 2013; Johnson, 2014). Limitations are the research elements that affect the interpretation of the study, and the researcher has no control over them. First, this study was limited to online fashion jewelry business owners operating in the northeastern United States and did not include online fashion jewelry business owners in other parts of the United States, or those in other countries. Therefore, study participants were not representative of other parts of the United States. Second, some participants may not provide sufficient information or complete responses. Third, some participants may provide biased responses that could affect the study outcomes.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are elements the researcher can control in the study (Hesse-Biber, 2013; Johnson, 2014). Delimitations minimize the scope and provide the boundaries for the study (Zitomer & Goodwin, 2014). Geographical location was the first delimitation.

The geographical location for this study was the northeast region of the United States. Second, only three online fashion jewelry business owners from the northeast region of the United States who generate at least \$100,000 in annual revenue and have operated in the fashion jewelry industry for at least 5 years participated. The limited sample size was a delimitation because the study findings might not apply to other lines of business.

#### Significance of the Study

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

Owning and managing a small business can be a challenging process because almost 50% of small businesses fail within 5 years of operation (SBA, 2016). Business owners have the opportunity to increase profitability and long-term sustainability by implementing effective marketing strategies (Eid & El-Gohary, 2013). The results of this study may assist online fashion jewelry business owners in developing and implementing effective marketing strategies for deepening customer relationships, maintaining or increasing profitability, and achieving business sustainability. Organizations' marketing efforts and implementation of Internet marketing may increase the profitability and decrease the rate of business failures (Halabi & Lussier, 2014). The results of this study may provide online fashion jewelry business owners insight into effective Internet marketing strategies and tools to take advantage of resources and emerging opportunities and to respond effectively to challenges and barriers.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

Small business owners contribute to the U.S. economy by creating a notable portion of employment opportunities (Artinger & Powell, 2015; Small Business and

Entrepreneurial Council, 2016). The results of this study may offer important information for small business owners to operate profitable and sustainable businesses, which can result in job creation and economic growth. The implementation of effective Internet marketing strategies may stabilize local economies by increasing household incomes and tax revenues and balancing state budgets (Demyen & Ciurea, 2014). The findings of this study may improve the community by increasing the quality of families' lives through the identification of business resources for stay-at-home parents who operate an online business. The results of this study may lead to stronger and safer communities and neighborhoods by offering beneficial information to disadvantaged individuals who operate online businesses by aiding them in developing successful businesses.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this literature review was to explore effective Internet marketing strategies online business owners implemented to increase profitability and sustainability. The literature review contained the majority of existing scholarly information about the research subject to improve my knowledge. The review included the most relevant marketing theories found in peer-reviewed articles, published books, and government websites. Existing research in Internet marketing as an academic field is limited and fragmented because of the emergent nature of this field. I intended to consolidate the fragmented literature of Internet marketing strategies to create a more coherent understanding of current scholarship.

This review included the most relevant marketing theories including a brief overview of competitive advantage theory, entrepreneurial marketing theory, and

dynamic capabilities theory. The study of social media as an effective Internet marketing tool provided valuable information for this review, and the evaluation of consumer behavior illustrated the most challenging situations that online fashion jewelry business owners are facing. Additional research on related areas including advertising strategies, trends and innovation, and data mining enriched the literature review. I organized the literature review into the following 15 topics: overview of marketing theories and strategies, competitive advantage theory, entrepreneurial marketing theory, dynamic capabilities theory, social commerce, advertising strategies, trends and innovation, internet marketing, social media marketing, consumer behavior, customer relationship marketing, brand management, customer loyalty programs, data mining, and marketing strategies and social change.

I used Walden University's online library and its databases, including Emerald Insight, ProQuest Central, ScienceDirect, EBSCOhost, and Google Scholar to conduct this comprehensive literature review. *Internet marketing, e-commerce, advertising, brand management, social commerce, social media marketing, word-of-mouth, electronic word-of-mouth*, and *data mining* are some key terms used to write the literature review. The doctoral study contains 220 references, including 207 peer-reviewed articles, and 188 of those articles had publication dates within 5 years of the expected CAO approval year of 2018. The types and number of articles, dissertations, and books appear in Table 1.

Table 1

Types and Counts of References

	2014-2018	Before 2014	Total	% of total references
Books	7	1	8	3.50
Dissertations	2	0	2	0.90
Government websites	2	2	4	1.70
Peer-reviewed articles	196	19	215	93.90
Total	207	22	229	100.00

#### **Overview of Competitive Advantage Theory**

Small business owners implement marketing strategies to increase their knowledge about customers and competitors, achieve brand awareness, promote consumer trust, and discover potential risks. Managers identify customers' existing and potential needs by utilizing marketing strategies (Ritter, 2016). Implementation of marketing theories and strategies assists small business owners and managers in developing proper procedures for influencing consumers' purchasing behaviors by identifying and evaluating customer needs (Woo, Ahn, Lee, & Koo, 2015). However, small business owners often lack critical factors for business success, including strategic planning and marketing proficiency (Cronin-Gilmore, 2012).

Small business owners and marketers develop successful marketing strategies by analyzing consumer behavior and recognizing variables that impact consumer behavior through engaging with various types of customers (Sargunani & Bruce, 2015). Marketing strategies vary based on company limitations (Haniff & Halim, 2014). The implications

of these different marketing strategies and practices vary based on the nature of the business, company type and size, and decision-maker personalities (Liao, Hung, Kao, & Wu, 2014).

Competitive advantage theory was the conceptual framework for this research study. Competitive advantage theory includes focus strategy, differentiation strategy, and cost leadership (Porter, 1985). Managers develop strategies to achieve competitive advantages to stay ahead of their competitors and protect from threats such as (a) new entrants to the market, (b) competitions among existing companies in the market, and (c) substitute products and services (Azadi & Rahimzadeh, 2012). Company leaders are responsible for introducing new business strategies, products, and services to attract customers and create competitive advantages in the market (Yenipazarli, 2015). Managers implement effective tools and strategies to address possible imperfections and weaknesses of the business to maintain competitive advantages (Nadarajah & Latifah Syed, 2014). Managers must concentrate on creating a sustainable competitive advantage because without a competitive advantage, a business has very few economic reasons to survive in a competitive market.

Managers create strategies to illustrate plans for the organization to achieve success in its rival environment. To create an effective strategy, managers should identify the strategic challenges faced by the organization (Todericiu & Stanit, 2015). The essential starting point for the company to create an effective marketing strategy is generating a unique value for customers and not attempting to be the best company in the market. Managers clearly separate strategy from goals for any particular action (Nada &

Ali, 2015). The strategy is how managers position the company to achieve their goals. The strategy is the core understanding of the distinctive position of the company within the industry.

The strategy includes concrete and specific details about how the company differentiates itself in the industry and how it delivers unique value to customers. The first broad stage in strategic thinking is to determine the fundamental overarching route to competitive advantage (Khalique & Pablos, 2015). Industry structure and strategic positioning are two essential elements impacting the economic performance of companies. It is important for managers to recognize how industry structure, strategic positioning, or a combination of both can contribute to success (Cleary, 2015). Achieving competitive advantage assists managers to realize superior performance within an industry. Managers position their companies by pursuing either differentiation or cost strategy.

Managers apply a differentiation strategy by providing innovative and high-quality products (Tanwar, 2013). Copyright is an intellectual property law that protects original innovative works including computer software, musical products, and architecture. Managers who implement differentiation strategies can use copywriting to limit competitors' entrance to the market (Azadi & Rahimzadeh, 2012). The creative design and attractiveness of products are some of the most important factors to attract potential buyers (Abdullah, Hamali, & Abdullah, 2015). Differentiation occurs when a company commands a higher price because it provides a unique product or service that customers are willing to pay more money for it. Managers apply cost leadership strategies

to protect the company from competitors by providing low-cost products and services to customers in large quantities (Porter, 1985). Cost strategy refers to a company that can produce an equivalent product or service at a lower cost (Kaya, 2015). Therefore, selling the products or services at the same price or even at a reduced price will be comparatively more profitable for companies who adopted cost strategy. Managers apply focus as a strategy to dominate a niche by concentrating on a limited segment of the market.

Companies that utilize focus strategy understand and recognize the dynamic and unique needs of their customers. As a result of serving niche products and services, a company can achieve higher market share than competitors (Aghadavood & Askari, 2014). The recognition and prediction of customers' needs enable managers to implement effective strategies, which lead to an increase in customer loyalty and business success.

Competitive advantage strategy is the process of positioning a company in its competitive environment. The positioning of a company includes positioning of products and services, distribution, and logistics (Khalique & Pablos, 2015). To develop a proper marketing strategy, managers are mindful of two essential factors including industry attractiveness and company position within the industry. It is vital for entrepreneurs to be familiar with the industry they enter. A high level of profitability makes the industry more attractive for competitors (Kaya, 2015). Some companies are more profitable than others in the same industry, regardless of overall market profitability levels.

It is crucial for managers to conduct an industry analysis to recognize what it takes to be a top performer rather than a below-average company in the market. Industry competition encompasses more than rivalry among competitors (Nada & Ali, 2015). The

threat of new entrants, bargaining power of suppliers, rivalry among existing competitors, bargaining power of buyers, and the threat of substitutes are five basic forces of competition (Evans, 2016). In some industries, the rivalry is genteel and polite. In other industries, the rivalry is serious, and competitors attack each other. A barrier to entry in a particular industry is a crucial dimension to determine the ease of entrance in that industry (Khalique & Pablos, 2015). The ease of entry in the market creates a fundamental attractiveness of the market and increases competition.

Industry growth, product differentiation, brand identity, barriers to exit, competitor diversity, and switching costs are essential elements that determine rivalry in an industry. It is vital for managers to be familiar with and pay attention to industry structure. Industry analysis is the starting point of creating any strategy (Kaya, 2015). Managers must recognize which competitive force is the most significant element to determine strategy (Todericiu & Stanit, 2015). Managers carefully and constantly examine the market to anticipate changes in the competitive environment. Managers have the power to actively influence the way the industry evolves based on the five competitive forces.

The value chain is the set of activities that include producing products, providing services, and marketing products and services to deliver value to customers. The value chain encompasses all competitive advantages and managers determine strategies by choosing and linking activities within the value chain (Nada & Ali, 2015). There are different ways of configuring the value chain in the same industry, including creating competitive advantages, offering a high price, and achieving lower cost. Strategic

positioning is about making choices to create a unique and superior value proposition by doing things differently to serve customers (Evans, 2016). Adapting a unique value proposition compared to other companies is necessary for a successful strategy (Kaya, 2015). Defining the value proposition enables managers to determine what set of customers receives products or services from the company, what customer needs the company's products and services meet, and how to set the price of products (premium, parity, or discounted).

Companies are constantly trying to invent and modify effective methods to increase customer engagement and market share to create competitive advantages. The emergence of the Internet, e-commerce, and technological advancement impacted consumer behavior significantly by raising customer engagement rate (Richard & Habibi, 2016). Small business owners improve business structure by implementing innovative technology to identify market changes and stay ahead of emerging and future trends (Obeidat, North, Richardson, Rattanak, & North, 2015). Emerging innovative technology enables managers to remain competitive and increase knowledge through marketing research. The implementation of innovative technology facilitates the identification of market changes and newcomers in a well-established market for small business owners and marketers (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). Applying small changes to existing products, offering new products to attract new customers, and providing new products for current customers are examples of innovative strategies to create competitive advantages for online fashion jewelry business owners to achieve higher profit levels.

Newby, Nguyen, and Waring (2014) asserted that the acquisition of technology improved the economic conditions of small and medium-sized businesses in the United States. Managers created competitive advantages through technology adoption and enhanced customer knowledge, customer relationship, and customer retention (Newby et al., 2014). To remain sustainable and profitable, small business owners and marketers must have a compatible technological system to educate customers about benefits of products and services they offer (Corsi & Di Minin, 2014). The invention of the Internet and social media changed the mode of communication between companies and customers about products and brands (Campbell, Cohen, & Ma, 2014). The adoption of technology assists online fashion jewelry business owners to remain competitive and achieve their business objectives. Technology competence managers create benefits through increasing sales efficiency and customer satisfaction, decreasing operation costs, and reaching online target markets by implementing the latest technologies.

Petkovska (2015) stated that small and medium enterprises (SMEs) are the principal drivers of economic growth and SMEs drive growth by creating new jobs, increasing the number of economic entities, and improving the standard of living (Petkovska, 2015). Small and medium enterprises are the center of actions where innovation and new adventures begin. SMEs can be more innovative than larger companies because they have shorter communication channels, more straightforward decision-making processes, and higher flexibility (Petkovska, 2015). Innovation is necessary to ensure competitiveness in the market, and SMEs should regularly review and modify their operations process by providing new innovative products and services.

#### **Importance of Small Business Owners' Characteristics**

Entrepreneurial marketing (EM) scholarship combines studies on entrepreneurship and marketing (Toombs & Harlow, 2014). Entrepreneurial researchers explore the relationship between small business owner characteristics and company success or failure. Small business owners' skills, experience, knowledge, and human capital directly influenced company profitability and success (Liao et al., 2014). Small business owners' innovativeness and ability to bring new ideas, processes, products, and services positively influences company sustainability and survival rate (Bello & Ivanov, 2014). Business owners' willingness to accept new technologies and the extent of their technology adoption rate are important indicators for improving operational management. Knowledge of small business owners is the most important factor in determining technology adoption and integration rates (Setiowati, Hartoyo, Daryanto, & Arifin, 2015).

In contrast to less successful competitors, successful small business owners determine, analyze, and evaluate marketing opportunities effectively (Elmahgop, Wahab, Elzein, & Edrees, 2015). The relationship-building abilities and the familiarity of small business owners with customers increase owner capabilities of understanding and recognizing customer needs (Petkovska, 2015). Izvercianu and Miclea (2015) evaluated the effectiveness of implementing a strategic marketing plan for small businesses, and stated that the effectiveness of company marketing plans relies on the aptitude of business owners and their ability to deal with opportunities and threats. To achieve success, small business owners' decision-making processes and operating management

system must align with companies' marketing strategies (Baker, Donthu, & Kumar, 2015). Managers should unfold the strategy creatively and systematically by generating comprehensive action plans, which aligned with the strategies.

#### **Social Commerce**

Development of social media platforms evolved e-commerce to social commerce, where user interaction encourages an accessible environment to buy and sell. Through emerging social commerce, purchasing power shifted from sellers to buyers (Huang & Benyoucef, 2015). Social commerce brought back the social aspect of shopping, the lack of which has been a primary barrier to e-commerce growth. A combination of social factors and social technology results in more authentic online relationships and purchasing behaviors (Lu, Fan, & Zhou, 2016).

Social presence, social trust, and the flow and quality of the purchasing experience are essential elements impacting customers' buying intentions (Zhang, Lu, Gupta, & Zhao, 2014). Launching and growing a profitable e-commerce business is substantial work that requires managers to take multiple proper steps and make various valid decisions at the right time. Emerging e-commerce provided the opportunity for small business owners to reach customers beyond the local market. The implementation of e-commerce allowed small business owners to access customers around the globe at low cost.

Leibtag (2014) stated success or failure of companies' communication on social media significantly depends on the quality of its content marketing. Leibtag analyzed social media followers of few companies and stated that creation of quality content led to

lasting relationships with customers. The current literature emphasizes the importance of effective social commerce, which can be useful for struggling online fashion jewelry business owners who want to implement social commerce as a marketing strategy.

Internet protocol (IP) to businesses. Honadle, Zapata, Auffrey, vom Hofe, and Looye (2014) revealed that it is vital for the constantly growing economy to have adaptive, creative, flexible, and nimble companies. The implementation of Internet-based strategies enables business owners to meet each of these requirements. Pettman (2016) said social commerce had grown 26% from 2013 to 2014. Facebook alone generated 64% of the entire social commerce revenue (Pettman, 2016). The amount of revenue generated through e-commerce has increased every year from \$62 billion in 2013 to \$105.7 billion in 2017 according to first quarter data retrieved from United States Department of Commerce (2017).

The global improvement in Internet access is offering new opportunities for online small business owners to increase their productivity and competitiveness.

Ramayah, Ling, Taghizadeh, and Rahman (2016) asserted that business owners' creativity and IT aptitude, cost, and relative advantages determine the likeliness of continued website usage (Ramayah et al., 2016). The Internet is the most cost-effective sales and marketing tool, as it benefits companies at any geographical location, any size, and any business type (Akhtar, Azeem, & Mir, 2014).

Small business owners use the Internet more if they find it an enjoyable experience (Caniels, Lenaerts, & Gelderman, 2015). The perception of the Internet as an enjoyable tool for small business owners is even more important than ease of use.

Business owners take advantage of the Internet extensively and successfully globally only when they use the Internet correctly (Caniels et al., 2015). Developing an Internet platform enables online fashion jewelry business owners to connect with domestic and international customers and perform business transactions.

Building trust in social commerce platforms. Shi and Chow (2015) conducted a study on 375 website users of social commerce and found that trust-building activities of online businesses positively influenced social commerce and led to positive electronic word of mouth (e-WOM). Trust-building activities increase customer purchase intentions for products and services (Shi & Chow, 2015). Social commerce will be an even more effective asset for both secure and struggling businesses when customers trust them within social platforms. Chen, Su, and Widjaja (2016) noted that even though trust is a critical aspect of social commerce, impulsiveness and the quality of social media content also affect customer purchase intentions (Chen et al., 2016). Wang, Yeh, and Yen (2015) evaluated customer's purchasing behaviors and indicated that the protection of customer identity by social commerce websites is an important element that affects customers' purchasing behavior. Many studies exist on the benefits of social commerce around the world, and small business owners should include trust-building and customer-identityprotection activities in their social commerce strategies to achieve sustainability and profitability.

#### **Internet Marketing**

In the current era of constantly developing technologies, Internet marketing tools including search engine optimization, e-mail marketing, social media platforms, mobile

marketing, viral marketing, and events-based marketing provide low-cost platforms for small business owners to interact with customers (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Dynamic capabilities theory is an entrepreneurial approach that highlights the significance of business process, critical resources, and effective strategies inside an organization and among external partners of a company. Dynamic capabilities theory is a recourse-based approach with a focus on transferring technology through numerous sections of a company (Teece, 2014). Atanassova and Clark (2015) used dynamic capabilities theory to explore how small business leaders used information, ideas, and knowledge acquired from social media platforms. Atanassova and Clark asserted social media are inexpensive and easy-to-operate tools to achieve growth in a company by providing a platform for companies to interact with customers constantly and by providing relationship-building opportunities. Managers implement a dynamic capabilities strategy to create, consolidate, and reconfigure capabilities to tackle constantly and rapidly changing environments.

The implementation of Internet-based strategies increases marketing and operational efficiency (Dlodlo & Mafini, 2014). The implementation of Internet marketing strategies enables marketers to advertise anytime and to reach larger audiences (Richard & Habibi, 2016). The online presences of small businesses owners enable them to be more noticeable to promote their products and services. Marketing managers and small business owners use Internet marketing to provide excellent visibility and to facilitate customer interactions with businesses. Implementing advanced networks that include both customers and suppliers, as well as the alignment of marketing elements, raises the level of value perceived by customers (Van Bockhaven, Matthyssens, &

Vandenbempt, 2015). Online fashion jewelry business owners build relationships with customers by creating constant low-cost personalized communications, responding to competitive mass-marketing activities, and overcoming barriers of distance by using Internet marketing.

Jones, Borgman, and Ulusoy (2015) studied five struggling small businesses in Maine and asserted that owning and managing a business website and social media to market the products and services positively affects the business success rate. The results of the study revealed that having a website and social media accounts assisted small business owners in increasing online traffic, raised awareness about their products and services, and led to increased revenue (Jones et al., 2015). Khan and Lee (2014) conducted a study of 103 small café owners in Hong Kong and noted that café owners felt Facebook was more credible and effective than a website. The café owners asserted the implementation of Facebook enabled them to reach a large audience and allowed them to interact directly with their customers via public relations, personal selling, and direct marketing. The café owners stated that a website was more cost-effective than Facebook, and they mentioned that establishing a free fan page on Facebook was one of Facebook's relative advantages (Khan & Lee, 2014). Owning and operating a Facebook business page assists online fashion jewelry business owners through increasing exposure to potential customers and collecting more leads to the business website. Online fashion jewelry business owners lower marketing costs by implementing Facebook business pages because starting a Facebook business page is free. Facebook ads are inexpensive and more targeted compared to traditional radio or television ads.

Lack of knowledge and unfamiliarity with social media is one of the main barriers for small business owners and marketers to implementing an Internet marketing strategy. The difficulty of measuring the rate of online marketing investment returns is another primary obstacle that deters the online presence of small business owners (Xia & Pedraza-Jimenez, 2015). Cronin-Gilmore (2012) evaluated marketing methods that small business owners implement and they found that small business owners are aware they lack marketing skills. Some small business owners do not have the requisite knowledge to implement new marketing tactics and they are afraid of trying new marketing methods and tactics without relevant experience (Cronin-Gilmore, 2012).

#### **Social Media Marketing**

In contrast to traditional marketing, social media offers innovative marketing tools that assist small business owners to reach business leads, to build traffic, and to increase brand awareness at a significantly lower cost (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Customers value social media as an effective tool to shape their purchase intentions (Bronner & de Hoog, 2014). Taneja and Toombs (2014) noted that the implementation of social media for businesses increased dramatically since 2008. Social media usage enables small business owners to build strong relationships with their current and potential customers. Social media marketing relates to the process of increasing website traffic or customers' attention through social media websites. Social media marketing programs usually have a focus on creating content that attracts customer attention and inspires readers to participate in company-related social network activities (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Social media programs are beneficial for online fashion jewelry business

owners in various ways, including building trust and credibility and increasing brand recognition and brand equity.

Ashley and Tuten (2014) explored creative strategies in social media marketing. An effective social media presence that includes creative, fresh, and frequent content updates is crucial to a successful business (Ashley & Tuten, 2014). Ashley and Tuten (2014) asserted that interactive social media content engaged customers to participate in social channels and constituted the most effective marketing tactic to increase the customer engagement rate. Another study also revealed that the quality of the company's website directly impacts customer e-satisfaction and, consequently, the higher level of esatisfaction positively impacts customer willingness to purchase company products and services (Bukhari, Ghoneim, Dennis, & Jamjoom, 2013). Chen et al. (2016) surveyed 277 Facebook users who were members of social media shopping groups in Taiwan and noted that social media sites should contain current, relevant, complete, accurate, and wellformed information to impact customers' purchase intention positively. Hopp and Barker (2016) conducted a study of 288 e-commerce customers and asserted that satisfying content and random learning opportunities are two compelling aspects that social commerce users consider when choosing social commerce sites. Online fashion jewelry business owners should create quality contents to engage and interact with customers to influence their purchase decisions.

A corporate message is spreads organically over social media from users to other users. A corporate message resonates through social media because it looks like it comes from a dedicated third-party source and not just from the company itself. Social media

platforms are easily accessible for anyone with Internet access. Increased communication fosters brand awareness and improves customer service in organizations. Social media is a relatively inexpensive platform for implementing marketing strategies. The leaders of most brands fully recognize the power of social media. If Facebook users constituted a country, they would represent the third-highest population after China and India (Ellison, Vitak, Gray, & Lampe, 2014). The power of social media has risen tremendously over time, and company leaders slowly adapted to this change. The leaders of small and large companies learned that it is worth investing time and money in social media. Marketing strategists educate customers by using weblogs and engage their perspectives, their achievements, and even their everyday activities (Ellison et al., 2014). According to Ellison et al. (2014), marketers mostly use LinkedIn, Twitter, and Facebook as their social networks. Marketers believe that LinkedIn is the most effective social media platform to generate customer leads. Online fashion jewelry business owners should use the power of social media to inspire customers who purchased from the company to talk about the brand and the quality of products to others.

Nam and Kannan (2014) conducted a research in 44 companies located in 14 markets to analyze social tagging data. Nam and Kannan noted social tagging is a unique approach to sharing and classifying online information. Social media users use social tagging to communicate their thoughts, opinions, and beliefs about any subject. Social tagging content serves to connect content through user-generated keywords known as tags that allow the keywords to be easily searchable (Nam & Kannan, 2014). Marketers

obtain deep information by using social tagging, which allows them to understand brandassociative networks.

Consumer socialization theory predicts that communication among consumers affects their cognitive, affective, and behavioral attitudes. Vinerean, Cetina, Dumitrescu, and Tichindelean (2013) evaluated the impact of social media on consumer behavior by classifying online consumers in various groups consisting of engagers, expressers, informers, networkers, and observers. Small business owners and marketers use this classification of online consumers as a basis for psychographic segmentation to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of online marketing activities (Vinerean et al., 2013). Social media platforms offer immense possibilities for fostering relationships with consumers in an online environment. Small business owners and marketers should create a buyer persona and then should develop and continually adjust the online marketing strategy according to the interests of customers for long-term success. True customer engagement means commitment-focused and not transaction-focused engagement (Vinerean et al., 2013). Company leaders who master these aspects are truly successful, as they undergo continuous online marketing research and are sensitive to changes in consumer behavior patterns to identify new areas of consumer values and interest (Vinerean et al., 2013). Online fashion jewelry business owners should be aware of the importance of social media sites in influencing online shopping by identifying and targeting different types of customers and taking the initiative to recognize and highlight customer interests

Social media and small business owners. Small business owners are primary decision makers for companies, and their marketing knowledge impacts companies' marketing strategies. Marketing planner, resource allocator, customer relationship manager, price and products manager, and data collector are just a few examples of small business owners' roles in their companies (O'Donnell, 2014). Small business owners ensure the alignment of business goals with company marketing strategies. It is critical for small business owners to measure the effectiveness of marketing strategies to increase marketing performances (Leeflang, Verhoef, Dahlstrom, & Freundt, 2014). Chen et al. (2016) noted more than 40 million small business owners actively implement Facebook as a marketing tool. In one study, small business owners engaged in marketing activities through the implementation of word-of-mouth (WOM) advertising, partnerships, and networking as their top marketing strategies (O'Donnell, 2014). The implementation of Facebook as an effective marketing tool is challenging for small business owners because they lack knowledge and time.

The popularity of social media, including Facebook, facilitated the process of attracting and keeping customers for businesses. Through social media, the methods of introducing brands and products to the customers are evolving (Kudeshia, Sikdar, & Mittal, 2016). Facebook is an inexpensive and beneficial form of social marketing, and it is crucial for company owners and managers to be knowledgeable about the efficient use of this marketing tool. Effective networking activities are significant marketing efforts for small business owners to attract new customers, increase market share, find cost-saving opportunities, and discover and develop ideas for new products (Achrol & Gundlach,

2014). Management skills, including technical and social media competencies and personal characteristics, may be useful for online fashion jewelry business owners in developing and enhancing their business social media page efficiently.

A research study of small businesses in Austria illustrated that small business owners increased their skills and knowledge, and effectively adopted Facebook, by having technology mentors (Woodley, Burgess, Paguio, & Bingley, 2014). Jambulingamis, Sumathi, and Rajagopal (2016) conducted a study of 134 small business owners in Malaysia and noted that the involvement rate of using Facebook as a marketing tool directly depends on entrepreneurs' education, knowledge, and attitudes toward technology. The results of the research emphasized the need for business owners to have technological knowledge to influence their businesses. Cesaroni and Consoli (2015) conducted a study of 48 companies in Italy to explore the relationship between business owners' personal characteristics and the extent of using new and innovative methods to run their businesses. Cesaroni and Consoli asserted that business owners who effectively applied social media also had knowledgeable and innovative owners and managers who were able to recognize and adopt new methods of running a business and were willing to take the risk of using new but unproven initiatives. Several researchers confirmed the positive relationship between small business owners and managers' knowledge and the adoption rate of technology. The majority of studies about the relationship between small business owners' social media skills and their implementation of Facebook as an effective marketing tool took place outside of the United States. More research is necessary inside the United States to analyze the relationship between the extent of small

business owners' technological knowledge and their intention to implement social media as a marketing tool.

Since 2008, the implementation of social media as an effective marketing tool for small businesses has doubled (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). The implementation of social media enables small business owners to increase sales and market share, to improve customer satisfaction, and to minimize marketing expenses (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Finding competent staff to manage and run advertising and social media is challenging for small business owners. Pakura and Pakura (2015) conducted a study of 1,971 new German companies and asserted that networking initiated in Facebook brought further benefits to companies with owners who were highly engaged on the company's Facebook page (Pakura & Pakura, 2015). Companies with owners and staff who are technologically competent take the most advantage of social media (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Humphreys and Wilken (2014) asserted that many small business owners who lack resources to hire capable personnel to run their business social media page fill the gap by looking for a young person. For instance, one of the small business owners asked his niece to establish a Facebook page for his business (Humphreys & Wilken, 2014). Another study of 48 small businesses illustrated business owners must be capable of accepting new ways to manage the business, and they must have direct involvement in Facebook usage to use this marketing tool effectively (Cesaroni & Consoli, 2015). Online fashion jewelry business owners should be flexible enough to accept new ways of managing their businesses and be technologically competent enough to get effectively

involved in their company's social media page to maximize the benefits of the business social media page.

Schaupp and Belanger (2014) noted developing effective marketing strategies and hiring technologically competent employees to implement marketing strategies are the most challenging barriers to social media adoption for small business owners. As some small business owners lack social media competence, they avoided using it until they received pressure from customers. Small business owners reported that revenue growth correlated with their social media use (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Ackaradejruangsri (2015) conducted a study of 243 Facebook users in Thailand to evaluate the most effective business Facebook pages and noted the most effective business Facebook pages contain the following characteristics: (a) convenient to use, (b) secure payment system, (c) quality products at reasonable price, and (d) high rate of customer engagement.

Hodis, Sriramachandramurthy, and Sashittal (2015) conducted a study of two groups of students in the United States to evaluate the effectiveness of Facebook as a marketing tool. Hodis et al. noted that it is critical for business owners to know the personality of Facebook users, and they divided Facebook users into four groups: (a) attention seekers, (b) connection seekers, (c) devotees, and (d) entertainment chasers. Although accurate information empowers attention seekers and devotees, they enhance brand image by viral WOM. Attention seekers and devotees are great resources for a brand (Hodis et al., 2015). Marketers should offer monetary rewards to keep entertainment chasers as their customers. When connection seekers become regular customers, they consider the brand a trusted member of the Facebook community (Hodis

et al., 2015). Facebook as an effective marketing tool enables online fashion jewelry business owners to evaluate the behavior of Facebook users and allows them to align their marketing strategies based on their Facebook users' personalities.

Sabate, Berbegal-Mirabent, Canabate, and Lebherz (2014) analyzed 164

Facebook posts of five travel agencies in Spain and found that Facebook business posts, including videos and images, were more noticeable than posts without visuals for current and potential customers. Mariani, Di Felice, and Mura (2016) conducted another study about posting visual content and noted that moderately long posts positively influenced consumer engagement on Facebook. However, early morning posts and posting with high frequency negatively impacted Facebook consumer engagement (Mariani et al., 2016).

Posting visual content and providing in-depth information about products are two critical factors to influence customers' purchase decisions. Online fashion jewelry business owners should influence their customers' purchase decision by posting quality images and providing descriptive and concise information, including the dimensions and materials of each jewelry piece.

A Facebook user indicates a favorable opinion by clicking the like button on a business Facebook page. Chen et al. (2016) conducted a study in Taiwan and noted a high number of likes on a Facebook page had a positive impact on users and increased their willingness to purchase the products and services of a business. Kudeshia et al. (2016) conducted a study of 311 participants in India on five small businesses. The researchers noted liking the fan page of a brand resulted in a strong customer interest in that brand and positive WOM that ultimately increases purchasing intention. Admitting

Facebook as a beneficial marketing tool by online fashion jewelry business owners assists them to recognize customers' expectations and to ensure the business has all requirements to implement a Facebook-centric marketing strategy may benefit online fashion jewelry business owners.

The result of a study on 613 Taiwanese students illustrated that the number of Facebook likes was a great indicator for small business owners and marketers to understand their customers' needs and points of view (Chin, Lu, & Wu, 2015). Brison, Baker, and Byon (2015) conducted a study of 520 Facebook users and noted that Facebook likes are a new form of social endorsement for a product. The results of the study illustrated a positive relationship between consumers' purchasing intention and Facebook likes (Brison et al., 2015). Dehghani and Tumer (2015) evaluated the effectiveness of Facebook advertising and asserted that a high number of Facebook likes and shares positively influenced consumers' purchase behavior and made the brand more credible. Consistently posting proper content at the appropriate time and having strong and consistent themes on business social media pages assist online fashion jewelry business owners to increase customers' interaction and engagement rate.

Social media influencers. Social media influencers (SMIs) are online celebrities who exhibit their luxurious lives through social media (Chae, 2017). Social media influencers are people with a high potential to influence others because of their fame, attributes, and uniqueness. Social media influencers have a powerful social network with a mass audience of followers (Phillips, Miller, & McQuarrie, 2014). Company leaders attempt to leverage the online influence of SMIs by collaborating and partnering with

their brands to establish mass, powerful, and trustworthy communication (Brown-Peterson, 2017). Social media influencers charge for promoting products and for partnering with brands; their fee may vary from a few dollars to thousands of dollars. Many SMIs offer followers a promotional code that enables the SMIs to earn a commission from company sales. Some SMIs introduce and promote their own products to earn sales and revenue (Meyers, 2017).

In some cases, SMIs' authenticity faces challenges because they partnered with a brand and showcased a product that they do not use in their real life (Khamis, Ang, & Welling, 2016). De Veirman, Cauberghe, and Hudders (2017) conducted a study of 49 social media influencers who collaborated with nine brands to explore balancing strategies to keep the situations real under commercial pressure. De Veirman noted that SMIs should stay passionate while involved with brand collaboration, and they must be honest with their audience about partnering with companies to promote brands.

Companies should allow SMIs to select the products that align with their personal style to maximize enthusiasm for the brand among SMIs' followers (De Veirman et al., 2017). Implementing SMIs' power and collaborating with SMIs might assist online fashion jewelry business owners and marketers to increase the size of their brand audience, sales, and profit.

### **Customer Relationship Management**

Trust, understanding, commitment, and quality are foundations for creating strong relationship marketing. Jussila, Karkkainen, and Aramo-Immonen (2014) conducted a study of 306 participants and noted the quality of relationship with customers affects their

loyalty (Jussila et al., 2014). An effective and well-designed customer relationship system contains the following features: (a) customer oriented, (b) sales-force automated, (c) technology equipped, and (d) strong opportunity management (Clark, 2017). To achieve sustainability and profitability, managers establish successful business relationships with customers, as such relationships positively affect customer perceptions and increase sales performance (Bettencourt, Blocker, Houston, & Flint, 2015). Business owners and managers achieve long-term, sustainable success and brand loyalty by creating outstanding business-to-business (B2B) relationships. Moreover, establishing paramount relationships with customers creates a positive brand reputation and develops sales and profits (Dwesar & Rao, 2014). The first step for small business owners and marketers in creating a B2B relationship is to initiate relationships with customers. Customers recognize a business relationship as a personal connection with the company (Bettencourt et al., 2015). The implementation of strategies for customer relationship management may allow online fashion jewelry business owners to cultivate solid long-term relationship with customers by providing them direct information suited to their interests and needs.

Small business owners and marketers must allow consumers to have an active role to build a mutually beneficial relationship and to participate in the creation of marketing communication activities (Bacile, Swilley, & Ye, 2014). In 2015, online sales accounted for 7.4% of overall retail spending in the United States, which was the highest percentage since tracking began in 1999. Sales made through mobile devices have increased rapidly to reach 22% to 27% of all online sales. Company leaders should acknowledge the

importance of creating a digital relationship with customers to be successful (Kannan & Li, 2017). Tseng (2016) stated that company survival rate depends on the availability of knowledge resources to the company and the implementation of knowledge resources while company leaders enhance product and service quality. Tseng (2016) noted that knowledge management capability positively impacts customer relationship management and the quality of services offered (Tseng, 2016). Online fashion jewelry business owners should use marketing strategies for customer relationship management as a powerful tool to increase their knowledge about customers. Using knowledge management enables online fashion jewelry business owners to improve their relationship with customers, to create loyal customers, and to obtain competitive advantages.

Small business owners and marketers effectively use social media to observe, screen, and track consumer behavior to develop proper social media marketing strategies (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014). Customer retention and customer satisfaction are critical elements to operate a successful business. Business leaders should create a lasting relationship with their customers to gain customer loyalty (Wiid, Cant, & Roux, 2016). An increase in customer loyalty leads to profitability through repeat purchases. Loyal customers, in turn, promote the brand by recounting their pleasant purchase experiences to their friends and families (Aghadavood & Askari, 2014). Online fashion jewelry business owners should develop effective strategies for customer relationship management to ensure strong customer relationships and customer loyalty.

**Consumers' reviews.** Effective online networking activities, including customer comments and inquiries, positively impact the number of social followings on a

business's social media pages, as well as customers' purchase decisions and brand loyalty, and increase the value and reputation of the business (Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014). Company leaders should use consumer reviews as an effective marketing tool to communicate with current and potential customers to increase sales (Park & Nicolau, 2015). Goodrum (2015) asserted that the information from online sources, especially when firsthand experience is limited, impacted the majority of consumers' purchase decisions. Customers trust online reviews as if they are a personal recommendation (Goodrum, 2015). Consumer review and marketing promotions are two important factors influencing customer demands (Chong, Ch'ng, Liu, & Li, 2015). Small business owners and marketers generate sales by using reviews to encourage purchases, to prevent confusion, and to minimize choice overload (Baum & Spann, 2014). To destroy the effects of the negative reviews, business owners should respond succinctly and professionally to keep clients satisfied. Another method to minimize the effects of negative reviews is generating positive reviews, which will push the negative reviews to the bottom of the list (Goodrum, 2015). Online fashion jewelry business owners should be aware of the power of customer reviews as a medium of communication for customers to evaluate and express the effectiveness and competence of the products.

Electronic word of mouth. Word of mouth is the process of exchanging information from one customer or a group of customers to another customer or group in a method that can alter their preferences, their purchasing behavior, or the way they interact with others in the future (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2014). Electronic word-of-mouth (e-WOM) encompasses any positive or negative comment addressed through potential,

actual, or past customers about a product or organization that is accessible to some people and organizations through the Internet (Krishna & Schwarz, 2014). Electronic WOM can significantly influence consumer decision making and the success of any business (Agnihotri, Dingus, Hu, & Krush, 2016). It is critical for businesses to have an influential social presence to generate positive e-WOM and to develop brand management and marketing strategies.

Flanagin, Metzger, Pure, Markov, and Hartsell (2014) noted 49% of consumers trust online reviews more than other sources. Electronic WOM occurs in a complicated, technologically mediated context, whereas traditional WOM usually happens in a face-toface or one-on-one manner. There is no difference in perceived reliability between e-WOM and traditional WOM. Unlike traditional WOM, e-WOM communications have unique scalability and speed of distribution (Fox & Longart, 2016). Electronic WOM has accelerated interactions and has greater reach in comparison to traditional word-of-mouth (Wang, Yeh, Chen, & Tsydypov, 2016). Expertise, experience, knowledge, and trustworthiness of a review source determine its credibility (Meuter, McCabe, & Curran, 2013). Lee, Lee, and Hansen (2016) evaluated the impact of a credible review in the decision-making process and confirmed that credible e-WOM positively impacted study participants. Negative reviews have a smaller impact when weighed against a large number of positive reviews (Ong, Mannino, & Gregg, 2014). It is critical for online fashion jewelry business owners to develop a proper reaction to minimize the impact of negative WOM.

Fox and Longart (2016) conducted a study in Ireland to explore effective styles and types of communication in social media. Fox and Longart noted e-WOM is more important than at any other time in history for marketers and customers. Electronic WOM influences the perceptions of customers about a company and the products that the company offers. Positive e-WOM referrals promote trust and increase customer purchases, which increases sales and profit levels (See-To & Ho, 2014). Monitoring customer interactions on social media and identifying daily and weekly peaks may assist online fashion jewelry business owners to maximize benefits from e-WOM.

Liu, Cheung, and Lee (2016) conducted a study of 1,177 social-commerce site customers over a 4-month period and found that social commerce site reputation and its aspiration to assist customers affected the customer information-sharing rate. The results of the study revealed that quality of posts, extensiveness of feedback, customer proficiency, and reciprocity enhance customers' information sharing on social commerce sites (Liu et al., 2016). Despite the increasing popularity of social commerce sites, users have the power to share and exchange information and experiences about the products. Online fashion jewelry business owners must mindfully create positive WOM as the most credible form of advertising to remain competitive in the market.

Customer loyalty programs. Loyalty rewards programs are incentives intended to build loyalty among clients with the idea that companies offer the best rewards to frequent clients. Loyal customers are less-price-sensitive customers. Managers usually have to adjust aspects of their rewards programs to ensure profitability and competitiveness (McCall & McMahon, 2016). A loyalty program is a customer-

relationship-management tool that rewards customers for their loyalty based on the past, current, and future value of the company. Rewards offered by a company marketing leaders will help to create perceived value and satisfaction. A client who commits to a loyalty program that requires cost and effort, including membership fees and provision of personal information to the company, compares these costs with the value of offered rewards. If the value of the rewards is greater than the costs, the customer decides to register for the loyalty program and switch or increase behavioral and attitudinal loyalty (Meyer-Waarden, 2015). Consumer value perception is a basic condition for increasing brand loyalty using customer loyalty programs. Meyer-Waarden (2015) asserted that the rewards timing was the top decision criterion (36%), followed by rewards tangibility (35%) and compatibility (29%) for planning loyalty program preferences among study participants. Consumers prefer immediate rewards to delayed rewards, and tangible rather than intangible rewards (Meyer-Waarden, 2015). Online fashion jewelry business owners should implement customer loyalty programs as an effective marketing tool to increase customer retention, to create customer loyalty, and to improve brand reputation.

Customer loyalty programs membership reconciles the relationship between advertising effectiveness and attitudinal loyalty, and customer loyalty programs have a positive influence on customer choice, business values, opposition to counterarguments, and customer retention. Maity and Gupta (2016) noted that a rewards program can expedite customer purchases and can cause customers to receive more value and experience higher satisfaction. A customer loyalty program is a unified system of marketing actions that propose to reward and promote customer behavior and attitude

through rewards. Customer loyalty programs reward customers based on their purchase history and thus encourage loyal behavior by retaining existing customers and increasing business from them (Maity & Gupta, 2016). Customer loyalty programs raise the average purchase rate and reward customers for consolidating their purchases, which decreases purchases from competitors. Customer loyalty programs are a brand-building tool to raise the effectiveness of advertising.

## **Advertising Strategies**

Advertising is a crucial, powerful, fascinating, and informative tool to promote new and existing products and services. Advertisements directly influence customers' attitudes and purchasing behaviors in the competitive marketing world (Terkan, 2014). Buil, de Chernatony, and Martinez (2013) conducted a study of 302 customers in the United Kingdom to explore the impact of advertising and sales promotions on brand equity and business sustainability. Buil et al. analyzed advertising budgets and customer attitudes toward the advertisements, and they found that company leaders generate brand awareness and positive brand perception by applying original, creative, and unique advertising strategies. Although price promotions are popular, repeated use of monetary promotions decreases brand equity (Buil et al., 2013). Small business owners optimize their advertising investments and maximize marketing effectiveness by using promotional campaigns as a form of communication (Ahmed, Ting, & Johl, 2015). Advertising is an essential marketing tool for companies that create brand equity, and allocating additional funds to advertising can create an increase in brand awareness for companies.

### **Brand Management**

A variety of factors impact customers deeply, including customers' attitudes, confessed values, and the environments in which customers live. Mogos Descotes and Pauwels-Delassus (2015) conducted a study of 1,250 respondents during a 5-year period between 2009 and 2014 in the Slovak Republic to explore the impact of brands on the customer decision-making process. The researchers found that it is essential for small business owners and marketers to create a competitive brand by regularly evaluating customer needs and actively fulfilling customer requests. A brand is a valuable growing asset that builds consumer loyalty, drives future demand for company products, and ensures future cash flows. Law enforcement protects brands from duplication. Small business owners and marketers use branding as the most significant business-strategy tool to create customer value and to maintain competitive advantage (Mogos Descotes & Pauwels-Delassus, 2015). Strong brand management increases the perceived value of a brand, enables managers to protect product image, and raises company market share. A competent brand-management system and appropriate marketing activities result in loyal and satisfied customers.

Agostini, Filippini, and Nosella (2015) investigated the relationship among branding, marketing budget, and small- to medium-sized enterprise (SME) sales performance. They used a panel regression model on data collected from 2008 to 2012 in the fashion industry in Italy. Agostini et al. noted that branding is the process of selecting a general brand concept and then introducing, elaborating, and fortifying the concept over time. Agostini et al. indicated that corporate trademarks and marketing investments had a

positive relationship with SME sales performance. Marketing budget has the highest direct influence on SME sales performance, and its impact increases as companies grow. Hollebeek, Glynn, and Brodie (2014) evaluated consumer brand engagement on social media, and they noted that consumer brand involvement reflects consumer interest level and personal relevance of a brand. The brand is the most important reputational asset for companies, and strong brand management results in retaining customers because they might easily remember both the company and its products. Scholarly literature on the brand-creation process is lacking and this would be an interesting area of focus for future research.

# **Cause-Related Marketing**

Small business owners and managers implement corporate social responsibility to influence the brand perceptions of consumers. Companies participate in charitable causes and partner with nonprofit organizations to differentiate their brands from competitors, to enhance their corporate image, and to generate sales (Alalwan, Rana, Algharabat, & Tarhini, 2016). Cause-related marketing is one of the most recent developments in corporate social responsibility. In cause-related marketing, a company donates to a nonprofit cause whenever a customer makes a purchase or when customers donate to a cause via that company (Hanks, Line, & Mattila, 2015). The implementation of a cause-related marketing strategy by online fashion jewelry business owners elevate customers' enthusiasm for the products and boosts sales and profit levels.

Al-Dmour, Al-Madani, Alansari, Tarhini, and Al-Dmour (2016) conducted a study of 500 Jordanian consumers to explore factors impacting the success or failure of

cause-related marketing activities. Researchers asserted company brand credibility has a positive impact on the effectiveness of cause-related marketing activities. Al-Dmour et al. (2016) asserted the cause must fit with products and services that the company offers to maximize customer engagement. One retailer of children's clothes successfully engaged in cause-related marketing by aligning with a cause specifically designed to empower children (Al-Dmour et al., 2016). Online fashion jewelry business owners use cause-related marketing strategies to create stronger relationships with customers, to enhance business reputation, and to elevate brand image. Small business owners need to raise awareness about a cause-related marketing campaign and its benefits for the local community. Further research is necessary to explore the relationship between the numerous variables impacting the success of cause-related marketing.

## **Data Mining**

Data mining refers to predictive and heterogeneous information extracted from large databases that researchers use to analyze customer perspectives. Data warehousing refers to a relational database that centralizes data extracted from multiple sources. Information obtained from data mining and data warehousing helps companies tap into the specific needs of consumers and creates competitive advantages (Tirunillai & Tellis, 2014). The implementation of data mining provides decision makers the opportunity to examine the customer base as a whole and allows managers to make informed decisions (Santos & Boticario, 2013). Small business owners listen to detailed market messages and influence consumer purchasing decisions by categorizing homogeneous potential customers by implementing data mining (Hand & Singh, 2014). As the Internet is

growing, data mining knowledge will continue to grow and marketing research will positively impact marketing implementation.

Li, Tao, Cheng, and Zhao (2015) studied effective data-mining techniques to improve customer relationship management and found that improvements in technology, including data warehousing, data mining, and campaign management, made relationship marketing more challenging. Li et al. asserted the implementation of data mining facilitated competitive advantages for the companies. Extracting hidden predictive information from large databases offered significant value for managers and they were able to predict customer behavior by making proactive and knowledge-driven decisions (Song et al., 2014). Implementation of data mining tools enables online fashion jewelry business owners to manage customer relationships proactively by moving beyond the simple analysis of past events.

Managers and marketers analyze patterns and behaviors to develop marketing strategies through implementing data mining (Chen et al., 2015). Marketers use data mining to evaluate consumer behavior to identify, develop, and implement effective marketing strategies (Chong et al., 2015). Small business owners use data mining to create and identify homogeneous groups of customers to reach precise and effective marketing communication. Online fashion jewelry business owners may use data mining as an effective tool to evaluate consumer behaviors and to adjust their marketing strategies.

#### **Transition**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore effective Internet marketing strategies that online fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or increase profit levels. Section 1 contained the problem statement, purpose statement, research question, interview questions, conceptual framework, and other areas of importance. The objective of Section 2 is to describe the plan for conducting this study. The population for this study included three online fashion jewelry business owners located in the northeast region of the United States. In Section 2, I provide information about the participants, my role as a researcher, the research method and design, data collection techniques, data organization techniques, data analysis techniques, population and sampling methods, ethical considerations, and reliability and validity. Section 3 includes the problem statement, research question, and the presentation of findings. In Section 3, I discuss several components of the study, including the presentation of the findings, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and the conclusion.

# Section 2: The Project

The Internet radically changed the way to establish and promote a business, and Internet marketing is vital to the success of any business (Cant et al., 2015). Online fashion jewelry business owners implement effective Internet marketing strategies to maintain or increase profit levels and to achieve sustainability. Section 2 includes the purpose statement, role of the researcher, a description of the proposed participants, the design and methodology of the research, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection techniques, data analysis strategies, and action plans to ensure the reliability and validity of the study.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore effective

Internet marketing strategies online fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or
increase profit levels. The sample included three online fashion jewelry business owners
located in the northeastern region of the United States with successful experience in using
effective Internet marketing strategies to maintain or increase profit levels. The
implications for positive social change are an increase in sustainability and profitability,
which may lead to stronger communities through job creation, economic growth, and a
stable economy. The implementation of the study findings may lead to increase
household incomes and tax revenues and to balance state budgets.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

The researcher is the primary instrument for data collection in a qualitative study (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). The role of a researcher is to collect data and monitor the

progress of research neutrally and fairly (Tella, 2015). Researchers must understand the research topic through immersion in the literature (Boddy, 2016). My affiliation with the research topic is 4 years of professional experience managing the online fashion jewelry business I started. Researchers use the Internet and social media to identify qualified participants (Brewis, 2014; Khan, 2014). I selected participants using the Chamber of Commerce website and Google search engine to locate online fashion jewelry business owners in the northeast region of the United States. I obtained approval to conduct this research from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB ensures the protection of human beings who participate in research studies (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012; Suri, 2011). After obtaining IRB approval, I contacted the participants by phone to describe the purpose of the study and to request permission to conduct a subsequent Skype interview.

As a researcher, I have ethical responsibilities toward the participants. According to the *Belmont Report* protocol, the ethical obligations of researchers include respecting the research participants, minimizing harm while expanding benefits, and treating the participants equally based on individual efforts, needs, and values (Bromley, Mikesell, Jones, & Khodyakov, 2015). I adhered to the ethical principles summarized in the *Belmont Report* (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). I respected the participants by protecting their rights, confidentiality, and privacy. Researcher bias will affect the process of research, including data collection, research design, and data analysis. Fusch and Ness (2015) noted researchers and participants have worldview biases. It is necessary to implement preventive techniques to minimize bias (Boddy,

2016). I wrote notes during data collection and during the data analysis process. I asked open-ended questions to encourage participants to talk about their experience. Thomas and Magilvy (2011) noted researchers should follow participants during interviews rather than lead them. To achieve the most beneficial information, I followed the participants rather than lead them through the interview process. To collect additional data, I reviewed companies' documents, including the marketing plan.

Researchers frequently conduct interviews to collect data in qualitative research studies (Harrison & Taylor, 2016; Zhang & Guttormsen, 2016). I conducted semistructured interviews with open-ended questions to explore effective Internet marketing strategies that online fashion jewelry business owners implemented to increase profit levels. Researchers can create well-defined semistructured interviews by directing the conversation to significant areas of the research topic and asking additional questions of the participants (Lord, Bolton, Fleming, & Anderson, 2016; Suri, 2011). I used an interview protocol (see Appendix) to provide an interview guideline and to confirm the reliability of the interview process. An interview protocol is a guideline that contains information to support the qualitative interview process (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). Member checking is an effective way to validate the accuracy of interview transcription and interpretation (Roth, Theriault, Clement, & Worthington, 2016). Harrison and Taylor (2016) noted researchers should ask every interview participant to evaluate the interpretation of his or her interview to confirm that the interpretation is accurate. After completing the interviews and interpreting the collected data, I conducted member checking interviews to ensure the accuracy of collected data.

# **Participants**

This qualitative study involved conducting research on effective Internet marketing strategies that online fashion jewelry business owners implement to increase profit levels. Selecting experienced and knowledgeable individuals who meet a set of criteria is critical for the research process (Suri, 2011). The researcher is accountable for selecting qualified participants who meet the required criteria for a study (Englander, 2012; Murshed & Zhang, 2016). All participants of this study were online fashion jewelry business owners with a minimum of \$100,000 in annual income and they had been in business for 5 years. Purposive sampling is a systematic method to ensure certain groups of cases represent the final sample of the project (Robinson, 2014). Researchers implement purposive sampling to identify the study participants who have particular insights and experiences related to the phenomenon under investigation (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016; Sukcharoen & Leatham, 2016). I implemented a purposive sampling strategy to choose the participants who met the required qualifications.

One of the most important steps in conducting a case study is recruiting suitable candidates (Salvador, 2016; Seitz, 2016). Using the Internet and social media facilitates identifying potential participants (Brewis, 2014; Khan, 2014). I selected the participants through the Chamber of Commerce website and Google search engine. After obtaining IRB approval, I contacted the potential participants by phone to invite them for the Skype interview, and I sent a confirmation e-mail to follow up with them. Faden, Beauchamp, and Kass (2014) used the informed consent letter in research on leader strategies to reduce sales personnel attribution. Before conducting the interviews, I sent the

prospective participants an informed consent form via e-mail. The participants declared their agreement to participate in an interview by replying "I consent" to the e-mail that included the consent form.

Building professional and friendly working relationships with potential participants is imperative (Khan, 2014; Yin, 2018). Mutual expectation and a shared understanding of purpose are requirements for relationship development (Hoeber & Shaw, 2017; Salvador, 2016). Establishing an open communication environment serves to encourage the building of an in-depth relationship (Powell & Eddleston, 2013). I developed friendly working relationships with participants by introducing myself, explaining the purpose of the study, outlining the interview process, using open communication, and answering any questions asked by the prospective participants.

Selecting knowledgeable participants with special characteristics that align with the research question increases the strength of a study (VanScoy & Evenstad, 2015; Zhang & Guttormsen, 2016). Individuals must have detailed information and experiences that align with research question to be eligible for a study (Bodlaj & Rojsek, 2014; Leoni, 2015). To ensure the alignment of the research question with participants' characteristics, I selected three online fashion jewelry business owners who were 18 years old or older and from the northeast region of the United States who generated at least \$100,000 in annual revenue and had successfully operated in the fashion jewelry industry for at least 5 years.

# **Research Method and Design**

#### Research Method

Research methodologies can be quantitative, qualitative, or mixed methods. Researchers collect and interpret data to accept or reject hypotheses in a quantitative method (McCabe & Holmes, 2014; Murshed & Zhang, 2016). This study involved exploring effective Internet marketing strategies implemented by online fashion jewelry business owners to increase profit levels. Hypothesis testing is not an appropriate method to investigate people's experiences (Powell & Eddleston, 2013; Yin, 2018). In quantitative studies, researchers test hypotheses, evaluate variables, and compare the correlation or dependence (Lastad, Berntson, Naswall, & Sverke, 2014; Sukcharoen & Leatham, 2016). The quantitative method was not appropriate for this study because no hypothesis testing took place, no variable evaluation occurred, and no dependence or correlation comparison transpired. Mixed methods research is a combination of qualitative and quantitative research methods (Holt & Goulding, 2014). The mixed research method is the most appropriate method for studies that require a combination of evidence drawn from qualitative and quantitative research methods (Guercini, 2014). The focus of quantitative research is on numerical data and distinctly measured statistics (Murshed & Zhang, 2016). Consequently, the quantitative and mixed methods approaches were not suitable for this study.

In qualitative method, researchers try to explain why or how a phenomenon occurred (Yin, 2018). Implementing a qualitative research method simplifies the evaluation of individual experiences and events that happened naturally (Guercini, 2014).

Using the qualitative research method facilitates the understanding of human behavior patterns (Percy, Koster, & Kostere, 2015). Implementation of the qualitative method expedites the process of exploring social problems by using information derived from interviews and examination of documents (Berglund, 2015; Yin, 2018; Zhang & Guttormsen, 2016). The most appropriate method for researchers to explore the real world environment is the qualitative method (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). The qualitative method was thus most suitable for this study because the implementation of the qualitative research method simplifies the exploration of effective Internet marketing strategies that online fashion jewelry business owners implement to increase profit levels. Applying the qualitative research method allows researchers to collect data in the context of the real-world environment of actual business owners.

# **Research Design**

Multiple choices are available to shape and design a qualitative research study (Yin, 2018). Researchers use the qualitative phenomenology design to analyze the lived experiences of individuals by exploring the reasons that led to these experiences (VanScoy & Evenstad, 2015). Individuals' lived experiences are valuable sources of data that provide new perspectives and insights (Yuksel & Yildirim, 2015). The phenomenology design was not appropriate for this study because the study did not include individuals' lived experiences associated with a specific phenomenon.

Researchers implement the ethnography design to study social practices and organizations (Aij et al., 2015). In ethnography design, researchers explore social phenomena by evaluating unstructured data and explicitly interpreting data and

observations collected over time (McCabe & Holmes, 2014; Vannini, 2015). In narrative design, researchers evaluate individuals' actions and experiences that determine and classify individuals' experiences (Seal & Mattimoe, 2016). Ethnography and narrative designs were not suitable for this study because I did not study cultures and communities. By implementing case study design, researchers can conduct in-depth analysis of a small sample or multiple cases, resulting in detailed and valuable information (Cronin, 2014). Case study researchers explore the patterns of complicated behaviors and distinguish differences and similarities among cases (Berglund, 2015; Yin, 2018). A case study design contains multiple patterns, paradigms, and methods that offer flexibility to researchers (Harland, 2014). When study circumstances are not clear, researchers use case study design to understand real-world problems properly (Harland, 2014). Archival records, direct observations, participants' observations, documents, interviews, and physical artifacts are six data sources in case study design (Guercini, 2014; Yin, 2018). I used a multiple case study design to explore effective Internet marketing strategies that online fashion jewelry business owners use to increase profit levels.

In case study design, interviews are the main sources of information (Leoni, 2015). Yin (2018) noted interviews are interactive tools that researchers use to communicate with study participants to collect detailed data relevant to the case. I conducted three semistructured interviews with online fashion jewelry business owners in the northeast region of the United States. Researchers reach data saturation when there is no firsthand information or new ideas gleaned from additional interviews (Boddy, 2016). The implementation of data saturation is critical for the content validity of qualitative

research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I achieved data saturation by interviewing participants until I did not receive new information.

# **Population and Sampling**

# Sampling

Researchers use purposive sampling to ensure participants share the same industry, economic environments, and business size (Bodlaj & Rojsek, 2014; Iskandarsyah et al., 2014). In multiple case study research, implementing purposeful sampling provides an opportunity for researchers to collect accurate data about a phenomenon from the most knowledgeable participants (Duan, Bhaumik, Palinkas, & Hoagwood, 2014). To collect the most accurate information from the most knowledgeable participants, I used purposeful sampling for selecting participants.

## **Criteria for Selecting Participants**

The population for this qualitative multiple case study was three online fashion jewelry business owners who were responsible for Internet marketing strategies.

Participants had to generate a minimum of \$100,000 in revenue and had at least 5 years of experience in the same position. The participants were all 18 years old or older and were in the northeast region of the United States. The business owners personally monitored data about their competitors, customers, and marketing activities. The information power of participants directly affects the sample size of the study and the ability to achieve data saturation (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2016; Marshal & Rossman, 2016). I targeted and contacted five potential participants. After conducting the

third interview, I achieved data saturation. Therefore, I did not interview the other two potential participants.

# **Interview Setting**

The interview setting can have a strong effect on the quality of the interview process (Murshed & Zhang, 2016; Patton, 2015). Conducting the interviews included the following steps: (a) sending the invitation letters to potential participants, (b) e-mailing the interview protocol and consent form to potential participants who showed interest in taking part in an interview, (c) receiving responses from participants who replied with the phrase "I consent" to demonstrate their formal acknowledgment they were willing to participate, (d) scheduling 30 to 60 minutes initial interviews, (e) contacting participants by Skype to conduct interviews, (f) conducting interviews in my home behind closed doors, and (g) asking participants to stay in their offices behind closed doors or at a neutral place to ensure confidentiality.

#### **Data Saturation**

In a qualitative study, collecting rich and quality data is more valuable than the quantity of data gathered, and researchers who implement a multiple case study design and use multiple data collecting methods can reach data saturation with only a few participants (Bodlaj & Rojsek, 2014). Researchers reach data saturation when they cannot find new information and when they identify the same patterns repeatedly (O'Donnell, 2014). Yin (2018) noted data saturation might happen in as few as two cases for simple multiple case studies. In case study design, researchers may reach data saturation by interviewing one or a few participants (Fusch & Ness, 2015). To ensure data saturation

and to ensure I collected accurate and valuable data, I used the multiple case study design and multiple data collecting methods, including conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing companies' documents. I reached data saturation when I saw no new data and no new themes and the answers to interview questions were repeating. Consequently, I did not interview additional participants after conducting the third interview.

### **Ethical Research**

The personal interaction between researchers and participants in qualitative studies can present ethical challenges (Sanjari, Bahramnezhad, Fomani, Shoghi, & Cheraghi, 2014). Lester (2014) noted researchers must always use professional and ethical practices while conducting research with human subjects. I obtained permission from Walden University's IRB to start data collecting process. My IRB approval number is 06-07-18-0646993 and it expires on June 6, 2019. I adhered to all IRB policies and obligations to uphold ethical standards and to protect study participants from harm. I followed the ethical principles in the *Belmont Report* (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979) to protect participant privacy and confidentiality rights.

Researchers provide a comprehensive informed consent form to participants to protect participants' confidentiality rights (Harland, 2014; Wallace & Sheldon, 2015). I offered the informed consent form to inform study participants regarding their privacy and confidentiality rights, the purpose of the research, participants' criteria, and the data collection process. Study participants can withdraw from a study any time and let the researcher know they are leaving, but it is not a requirement to provide the reason for withdrawing (Yin, 2018). I informed the participants that they could withdraw their

consent at any time during the research process by communicating with me through standard mail, e-mail, telephone, or face-to-face communication. Researchers have stated that voluntary participation is a crucial factor to ensure following ethical procedures (Guercini, 2014; Oye, Sorensen, & Glasdam, 2016). The study participants were not members of a protected class, and incentives and monetary rewards were not available for them.

Researchers minimize the exposure of sensitive information by maintaining participants' confidentiality (Harland, 2014; Johnson, 2014). For purposes of confidentiality, I did not reveal the name of participant organizations in this research. Johnson (2014) noted that confidentiality is crucial during the research process. Participant demographic information such as name, ethnicity, and education level are not relevant to this study. Therefore, I identified participants by using a code containing a number and a letter (P1 to P5). To protect participants' confidential data, researchers conserve and archive electronic data in a password-protected hard drive and keep it locked in a safe place (Harrison & Taylor, 2016; Tella, 2015). I stored all collected data in a hard copy format and electronically. I stored the electronic data in a password-protected hard drive, and I locked both the hard copies of the data and the hard drive in a cabinet in my home and I will keep them locked for 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy the paper documents and delete the digital files.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

The primary data collection instrument in qualitative research is the researcher (Yin, 2018; Zhang & Guttormsen, 2016). As the researcher in this study, I was the

primary data collection instrument. Face-to-face, over the phone, video teleconference, and other types of digital media are some methods that researchers use to conduct interviews (Pandey & Chawla, 2016; Tella, 2015). I conducted the semistructured interviews by using Skype and asked open-ended questions to collect in-depth data from the participants. According to Yin (2018), archival records, direct observations, documentation, interviews, physical observation, and physical artifacts are six data collection resources, and researchers must use at least two of them. Researchers enhance the validity of the findings via methodological triangulation by interviewing participants, reviewing interview transcripts, and reviewing company documents (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2014). To increase the validity of research findings, I reviewed companies' documents, including the marketing plan. By reviewing companies' marketing plans, I gained valuable marketing information about companies' target market, positioning statements, pricing strategies, budgeting, goals, and values. The interview protocol contains a short introduction, the interview questions, a conclusion, and the time arrangement for both the follow-up interview and the member checking interview (Bodlaj & Rojsek, 2014; Han, 2015). I provided an interview protocol (see Appendix) to institutionalize the data collection process. Researchers implement methodological triangulation to enhance the reliability and validity of the data-collection process (Fusch & Ness, 2015; O'Donnell, 2014). Methodological triangulation involves using multiple data collection methods to collect the most accurate data in a study (Cronin, 2014; Hoque, Covaleski, & Gooneratne, 2013). I used methodological triangulation in the data-collection process by conducting semistructured interviews and

reviewing companies' documents. Researchers use member checking to ensure the reliability and the validity of the research (Johnson, 2014; Lester, 2014). Researchers conduct member checking to ensure the data interpretation is accurate and representative of participants' insights and experiences (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). I conducted member checking interviews by scheduling and conducting follow-up interviews. I asked participants to review, revise, and add more data to ensure the alignment of my interpretation of their answers to interview questions with their actual responses.

# **Data Collection Technique**

The process of collecting data includes various data collection techniques. The research question for this study was: What effective Internet marketing strategies fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or increase profitability? To answer the research question of this study, I provided all participants the interview protocol (see Appendix); scheduled and conducted semistructured interviews; reviewed companies' documents, including the marketing plan; and conducted member checking interviews. An interview protocol is a guideline that includes adequate information about an interview process and informs participants of interview details (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012; Tella, 2015). The data collected from participants' interview responses were primary sources of data. A case study protocol enables the researcher to concentrate on the research topic and to ensure the reliability of collected data (Iskandarsyah et al., 2014; Yin, 2018). A case study protocol contains four main sections, including the case study overview, the data collection processes implemented in the research, the research question asked to collect

data, and a guide to report the findings of the case study (Pandey & Chawla, 2016; Yin, 2018). I provided an interview protocol (see Appendix) to each participant before scheduling interviews. Yin (2018) noted using semistructured interviews and asking open-ended questions provide participants freedom of expression and enable them to share their insights and experiences. Researchers collect valid data and find the most accurate answers for research questions by conducting interviews (Makani, 2015; Pandey & Chawla, 2016). Conducting semistructured interviews assists researchers in adjusting questions and in phrasing participants' answers for the purpose of transparency (Han, 2015; Yin, 2018). Semistructured interviews can be time-consuming and costly. The process of conducting semistructured interviews including scheduling, interviewing, transcribing, data analyzing, and reporting may take a considerable amount of time and it may require plenty of money (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). I conducted semistructured interviews by using Skype voice call. According to Yin (2016), body language and facial expression are missing when researchers only implement audio recording during the interview process. Since I used Skype voice call, I may not have captured all relevant data. To avoid missing significant information, including body language and facial expression, I performed member checking interviews to ensure I collected all valuable data. The quality and accuracy of the audio recording in interviews depend on the audiorecording equipment, and researchers must have a backup plan if the equipment fails (Makani, 2015). I used Skype's recording service to the audio record the interviews and I had another type of audio recording software as a backup plan if the Skype recording service failed to function properly. Researchers validate the information collected from

interviews by using a second source of data (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015). To ensure the validity of the research, I reviewed companies' documents, including the marketing plan, as a second source of data. Companies' documents are the reliable and cost-effective source of data. However, in some cases, companies' documents may be incomplete or inconsistent. Another disadvantage of reviewing companies' documents is that they may not be available or easily accessible to the researcher (Tella, 2015).

Researchers use member checking to increase reliability and validity by ensuring they accurately perceive the information collected from study participants during interviews (Andraski, Chandler, Powell, Humes, & Wakefield, 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). A follow-up interview takes place with each participant to ensure the researcher's data interpretation is representative of participants' insights and experiences (Makani, 2015; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). All the participants have the chance to review, change, and add to the collected data to ensure alignment with their intention (Harrison & Taylor, 2016; Tella, 2015). To ensure the reliability and validity of the study, I scheduled and conducted member checking interviews by asking participants to review my interpretation of their responses to the interview questions. I asked participants to review their answers and add more data if needed to ensure the alignment of my interpretations of their answers to the interview questions with their actual intentions.

## **Data Organization Technique**

Researchers take advantage of various effective management techniques to extract new data, reuse currently available data, and validate collected data (Leung, 2015; Makani, 2015). The researcher notes, the interview audio recordings, the code list of

participants, and participants' consent forms are a few data organization tools available to the researchers to organize and manage collected data (Makani, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2014). Researchers' notes from interviews include the researchers' documents, observations, and thoughts and study participants' inputs (Yin, 2018). I used NVivo software to organize and code the collected data and to develop themes and patterns for this study. I used Skype to conduct the interviews and the Dragon voice recognition software to transcribe the interview texts.

It is crucial for researchers to store the data collected for research in a safe and reliable place to protect study participants (Han, 2015; Whitmire, Boock, & Sutton, 2015). The researcher will conserve and archive electronic data in a password-protected hard drive and will keep it locked in a cabinet (Bunakov, Jones, Matthews, & Wilson, 2014; Tella, 2015). To protect the collected data and to prevent unintended loss of data because of unexpected incidents, I kept the data electronically and in hard copy.

Organized and labeled data, including the password-protected hard drive and hard copies of collected data, will remain locked in a cabinet in my home for 5 years and will be only accessible to me. After 5 years, I will shred the paper documents and delete the digital file to protect the confidentiality of the participants.

### **Data Analysis**

In case study research, the data analysis process involves developing an exploratory research question, creating a set of semistructured interview questions, and analyzing the data by implementing the conceptual framework of the study (Andraski et al., 2014; Tella, 2015). Researchers can reach an in-depth understanding of contexts and

experiences related to the research problem by implementing triangulation (Reilly, Nyberg, Maltarich, & Weller, 2014; Shabani Varaki, Floden, & Javidi Kalatehjafarabadi, 2015). Triangulation of sources and theoretical, analytical, and methodological triangulation are four types of triangulation (Burau & Andersen, 2014). Methodological triangulation involves using multiple data collection methods to analyze different aspects of the research problem (Hoque et al., 2013; Leung, 2015). To collect data for this study, I conducted semistructured interviews and I reviewed companies' documents. I used methodological triangulation in the data collecting process by using more than one data collection method.

Popular strategies to evaluate the evidence of a case study include implementing theoretical propositions, describing a case, and developing rival explanations (Yin, 2018). Researchers use NVivo software to organize and classify collected data to answer research questions efficiently (Castleberry, 2014). I used NVivo software to store and classify data into themes and to formulate the conclusion. Synthesizing the results of the study is the most challenging part of case study research. Researchers synthesize the results of the study to interpret the findings effectively (Tella, 2015; Yin, 2018). Researchers synthesize the interpretive results of the study into themes derived from the literature and ensure coordination of the research question and final analyses of the data (Lakshmi & Moheedin, 2013; Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013). Semistructured interviews were the primary data source for this study. In addition, I reviewed companies' documents including a marketing plan to collect the most accurate data. I focused on the key themes by implementing NVivo software to analyze the collected

data. I categorized and coded the collected data to generate themes. Researchers focus on classifying emerged themes from a study and ensure the correlation of key themes with the conceptual framework and the literature (Leung, 2015). To conduct a credible and reliable study, researchers ensure that themes derived from the study correlate with recently published studies, the literature, and the conceptual framework (Harrison & Taylor, 2016). The data analysis process for this study included a focus on addressing a correlation among generated themes with the literature review and the conceptual framework

# Reliability and Validity

This section includes detailed information on my plan to achieve reliability and validity. Researchers build confidence and trust by ensuring reliability and validity (Tella, 2015; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). I used multiple tactics to address the quality of my study.

# Reliability

Reliability is a practice that researchers use to ensure the consistency and transferability of the research. Ensuring reliability enables other researchers to achieve the same results by researching the same issue by implementing the same data (Han, 2015; Lakshmi & Moheedin, 2013). Reliability is vital for the research process. Ensuring reliability enables researchers to maintain a high standard of academic research and to demonstrate scientific accuracy (Leung, 2015; Mohamad, Sulaiman, Sern, & Salleh, 2015). To ensure reliability, I provided detailed information regarding the research process, and I used member checking. To improve reliability and dependability,

researchers should apply member checking to receive participants' feedback on interpreted data (Andraski et al., 2014; Yin, 2018). To ensure dependability, I asked participants to check the accuracy of my interpretations through member checking. To prevent bias, I conducted the interviews in a consistent manner by asking all participants the same questions.

## Validity

Researchers ensure the validity of qualitative research by exercising credibility, transferability, and confirmability (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). To maintain the validity and credibility of research, researchers should acknowledge and recognize the qualitative research method (Roy, Zvonkovic, Goldberg, Sharp, & LaRossa, 2015). In qualitative research, researchers strive to ensure credibility (Klenke, Martin, & Wallace, 2016). The implementation of multiple data sources and different methods increases the credibility of research and leads to consistent results that correspond with reality (Hammarberg, Kirkman, & De Lacey, 2016; Leung, 2015). In this qualitative study, I achieved credibility through methodological triangulation and member checking. To improve credibility and confirmability of findings, researchers use triangulation, follow-up member checking interviews, and effective interview questions (Han, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2014). To ensure the confirmability of this study, I used multiple data sources such as research notes, companies' documents, and collected data from interviews.

Researchers achieve data saturation when they are not able to find new information or themes from conducting more interviews (Boddy, 2016; Lakshmi & Moheedin, 2013). I ensured data saturation by conducting semistructured interviews and

member checking until I did not see new information or new themes and until all new results were repetitive. Researchers ensure the transferability of methods and research findings by explaining the limitations of the study (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011; Yin, 2018). To ensure transferability, I provided detailed information on study limitations.

# **Transition and Summary**

Section 2 of this study included detailed information about research methods and designs. In Section 2, I provided information to rationalize the implication of a qualitative multiple case study. I also explained the role of the researcher and described the potential participants, the purposeful sampling technique, and the data collection method. I presented detailed information about ethical features of the study, along with the process and methods that I used to ensure the reliability and validity of the study. Section 3 includes the presentation of findings, the significance of the study, and potential implications for social change. Recommendation for actions, further study, and summary of the study are the last three topics in Section 3.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore effective Internet marketing strategies online fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or increase profit levels. Small business owners differentiate their business from competitors by implementing effective marketing strategies (Anderson & Ulla, 2014). Small business owners and marketers improve the quality of marketing strategies to decrease companies' failure risk (Stelmokien & Endriulaitiene, 2015). I collected data by interviewing three successful online fashion jewelry business owners located in the northeast region of the United States and by reviewing companies' documents including the marketing plans.

All participants had successful experience using effective Internet marketing strategies to increase profit levels. All three participants had owned and operated an online fashion jewelry business for more than 5 years and generated at least \$100,000 in annual revenue. I performed data analysis by evaluating interview transcripts, interview notes, and company documents, including the marketing plan. By analyzing data collected from interviews and review of companies' documentation, six themes emerged:

(a) Internet marketing strategies, (b) social media marketing strategies, (c) market research and retargeting strategies, (d) brand building strategies, (e) e-mail marketing strategies, and (f) marketing strategies for customer relationship management.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching research question for this study was: What effective Internet marketing strategies fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or increase

profitability? I conducted interviews by Skype. The duration of initial interviews was less than 30 minutes, and the follow-up member checking interviews took no longer than 25 minutes. After conducting the third interview, I achieved data saturation because I did not receive any new information.

# **Theme 1: Internet Marketing Strategies**

Small business owners and marketers apply Internet marketing strategies to achieve strong visibility and to facilitate interactions with their customers (Bettencourt et al., 2015). P1 stated, "the emergence of the Internet caused a major evolution in my company's marketing strategies during 18 years of operation in fashion jewelry business." The implementation of Internet marketing strategies enhanced the effectiveness of marketing and operational activities (Dlodlo & Mafini, 2014). Small business owners and marketers are able to advertise continually to reach larger audiences by using Internet marketing strategies (Richard & Habibi, 2016). All participants indicated that Internet marketing expenses are very high. P3 mentioned that Internet marketing can be very expensive because business owners must invest a large amount of money in Internet marketing to direct customers to the website and to convert the visits into purchases of their products.

The barriers of entry and marketing expenses are very high in the online fashion jewelry market (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). P1 was a fashion jewelry business owner with over \$20 million in sales. P1 noted that entrepreneurs would be able to overcome barriers by selling on Amazon. P1 noted,

Anyone can build an e-commerce website but nobody will visit the website unless the founder spends a large amount of money on marketing. It is not reasonable for young entrepreneurs and stay-at-home parents who need to make money from the beginning to invest lots of money on Internet marketing of their individual website at the start and find out later that they cannot compete with larger e-commerce websites.

P1 noted it is not realistic for small business owners to build their own e-commerce website and try to compete by driving traffic to their small satellite business. P1 mentioned, "the majority of my business comes from selling products on Amazon, despite having a fashion jewelry e-commerce website." P1 highly recommended that entrepreneurs launch their business first on Amazon for a variety of reasons. P1 also mentioned, "Amazon is the most economical e-commerce website for gaining the maximum responses from customers right away if the seller offers viable products." P1 noted 80% of all online search results for buying anything start on Amazon. P1 added, "by selling on Amazon, barriers to entry will be minimal, and entrepreneurs will spend a minimum amount of money for selling their products online. Amazon sellers have control over products and price." P1 stated that advertising and marketing costs are low for Amazon sellers because the Amazon e-commerce website contains structured advertising and has marketing systems in place.

P1 mentioned Amazon sellers can also direct traffic directly from their Facebook and Instagram accounts by conducting more targeted campaigns to drive traffic to their Amazon stores. Amazon's third-party sellers run their own businesses and sell products

in the United States and internationally by using Amazon's strong platform. To launch a sustainable online fashion jewelry business, P1 highly recommended taking seller courses on Amazon Seller University; starting a seller account on Amazon; setting few fashion jewelry products for sale; and advertising those products on Amazon's website to get traffic, views, sales, and reviews. After completing these steps, P1 mentioned that business owners can determine, based on cost, whether they want to continue advertising on fashion jewelry products websites. P1 recommended to entrepreneurs to use a variety of marketing tools to direct traffic to their website and Amazon store. P1 stated,

Boosting social media posts, directing traffic to the website, and directing traffic to the Amazon seller account are some strategies I used to attract new customers. To attract new customers to an Amazon store, I use Amazon's ad campaign by setting the budget, creating the settings, and using Amazon's marketing tools.

P1 recommended entrepreneurs and stay-at-home parents, usually with limited resources to start their businesses, sell on Amazon and drive traffic to that Amazon store. After carefully reviewing companies' marketing plans, I concluded that setting a marketing budget is one of the most crucial steps in writing a marketing plan, and online fashion jewelry business owners determine their marketing strategies and tools based on their marketing budget. Analyzing companies' marketing plan revealed that all participants planned to use the Amazon e-commerce platform to increase sales and to decrease marketing expenses.

Small business owners implement the competitive advantage theory to create a superior position over competitors (Farrell, 2015). Online fashion jewelry business

owners create a competitive advantage by choosing the most effective Internet marketing strategies to achieve sustainability and profitability. According to study findings, Internet marketing strategies align with the competitive advantage theory. Online fashion jewelry business owners create competitive advantage by selling on the Amazon platform or on other huge e-commerce platforms as an effective Internet marketing strategy. To launch an effective marketing plan, online business owners choose the most suitable types of strategies based on the needs and the market position of the business (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Online fashion jewelry business owners recognize and apply Internet marketing strategies as a competitive advantage to increased sales, customer acquisitions, and long-term growth.

# **Theme 2: Social Media Marketing Strategies**

Small business owners use social media strategies and innovative social media tools to generate leads, build website traffic, and enhance brand awareness at a lower cost (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). P3 stated that social media is the most effective marketing tool to attract new customers. P1 and P3 stated that an increase in the number of followers in social media accounts leads to an increase in company sales and profit. All participants stated they constantly posted engaging content on social media accounts. P1 recommended online fashion jewelry business owners to develop their social media presence by using Facebook, Twitter, Pinterest, Instagram, Google plus, and Snapchat. It is vital for small business owners to have an effective social media presence and to post innovative, new, and frequent content updates (Ashley & Tuten, 2014). P1 mentioned, "I

implement social media tools as the most important strategy to achieve sustainability and profitability, to attract new customers, and to retain existing customers."

It is critical to increase the number of followers on social media by constantly posting attractive and engaging content (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Marketers use social media to introduce new brands and new products to customers (Kudeshia et al., 2016). P3 explained online business owners achieve sustainability by presenting and describing products and ensuring customers recognize the value of products by posting images to engage customers and providing attractive content on social media accounts. The literature supported the social media strategy theme and highlighted the effectiveness of the social media strategy in increasing the sustainability and profitability of online fashion jewelry business owners.

Two essential elements that affect customers' purchase decisions are posting visual content and providing in-depth information about products (Mariani et al., 2016). P2 noted,

As an online fashion jewelry business owner, I achieve profitability by constantly posting creative, innovative, and customized products on the company's social media accounts, which leads to sales. In social media marketing, photos and videos are the only tools available to represent the jewelry. Paying attention to details assists me to attract website visitors and to convert visits to purchases.

Online fashion jewelry business owners engage customers and keep them connected by using paid promotions and constantly posting high-quality pictures of attractive and unique products in their social media accounts. Social media is a powerful

marketing tool for bringing customers and businesses together (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). The analysis of companies' documents, including the marketing plan, revealed that the purpose of creating a marketing plan is aligning marketing goals with companies' objectives. After reviewing companies' marketing plans, I concluded that the marketing plans for relatively new companies include social media marketing strategies that result in increasing the numbers of customers.

Small business owners implement the cost leadership strategy by establishing a competitive advantage by achieving the lowest operational cost in the industry (Farrell, 2015). According to Porter (1985), the implementation of the cost leadership strategy enables small business owners to sell more products at a lower price to increase profits and expand their market share. Online fashion jewelry business owners minimize marketing costs and create a competitive advantage by using social media (Sargunani & Bruce, 2015). Implementing social media as a low-cost marketing tool enables online fashion jewelry business owners to provide real-time responses to customers and achieve a competitive advantage over competitors not communicating as quickly. Online fashion jewelry business owners use social media to reach a competitive advantage by collecting information from competitors about pricing, product trends, and customer preferences to modify pricing strategies and to customize the products accordingly. Online fashion jewelry business owners use social media as an effective and low-cost marketing strategy to promote content, connect with customers and industry leaders, and generate targeted traffic. Online fashion jewelry business owners use social media as a powerful tool to understand customers' needs and to build a relationship with audiences. Online fashion

jewelry business owners use social media strategies as a competitive advantage to increase sales and to build brand awareness and brand loyalty by maintaining a strong social media presence.

# **Theme 3: Market Research and Retargeting Strategies**

Online business owners achieve a competitive advantage and higher profits by effectively using market research to monitor market trends and to recognize customers' needs (Gundala & Khawaja, 2014). P2 stated,

Constantly monitoring customers' needs and wants by conducting Internet marketing research is an effective strategy to increase sales and profit levels. Designing products and offering unique and innovative jewelry pieces based on the marketing research results, enable me to enhance the sustainability of the business. Online business owners create a road map for potential customers to follow and to purchase products by implementing market research.

Business owners lacking effective Internet marketing strategies, such as market research, do not perform as well as leaders constantly improving their strategies to meet customers' needs (Tarka, 2017). P1 stated that monitoring fashion jewelry trends allows online fashion jewelry business owners to provide the most stylish fashion jewelry on the market. All participants mentioned they use Google AdWord as an effective tool for market research. P2 stated, "targeting potential customers based on their age and special events, such as weddings or sweet 16 parties, is an effective strategy to reach more traffic in the website." P2 noted that carefully targeting customers, customizing products based

on marketing research, and using Google AdWord are some effective Internet marketing strategies to attract new customers.

Small business owners should effectively implement market research and retarget tools to identify and reach the target market, which leads to increased sales (Rad et al., 2015). P1 recommended using retargeting strategies to increase sales and profitability. Retargeting is an essential marketing tool to reengage with website visitors. P1 added, "implementing retargeting strategies helps business owners to reach customers who previously visited the website to remind them to visit the website again." P1 mentioned that implementing retargeting strategies is expensive and business owners should allocate a large budget to that tool. Online fashion jewelry business owners implement market research and retargeting strategies to increase their efficiency by focusing their marketing efforts on products that generate the most return on investment. The evaluation of companies' documents including the marketing plan as the second source of data for this study revealed that determining the target market and analyzing competitors are two essential elements of any marketing plan. All marketing plan I reviewed included a section to identify companies' target market and a section to analyze companies' competitors and their competitive environments.

The implementation of competitive advantage theory enables small business owners to generate a superior position over competitors (Farrell, 2015). Business owners create a competitive advantage by conducting comprehensive market research (Tarka, 2017). Online fashion jewelry business owners can use market research to analyze customers' demographic information and evaluate sales data to respond to customers'

needs effectively. Business owners use market research to compare their company to their competitors by determining their strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (Gundala & Khawaja, 2014). Online fashion jewelry business owners also use market research to gain a competitive advantage by analyzing the market and taking action to reach sustainability and profitability. The implementation of market research and retargeting strategies allows small business owners to compete and function in a competitive environment. Information derived from customers' behavior is one of the most important factors assisting small business owners to make decisions in the area of jewelry trends and the target market. Online fashion jewelry business owners create competitive advantage by determining the strengths and weaknesses of the business and making optimum decisions by using market research.

# **Theme 4: Brand Building Strategies**

Brand management is the process of developing brand perception in the market. Brand managers must build positive relationships with the target market (Agostini et al., 2015). Small business owners and marketers use brand management techniques as an effective marketing tool to boost product value (Hollebeek et al., 2014). Brand value is an important element to influence customers' purchase decisions. Brand managers develop a strategic plan to achieve brand value, brand awareness, and brand equity. To build a powerful brand, marketers must be aware of the company's vision (Hollebeek et al., 2014).

A brand is a valuable asset that enables business owners to build consumer loyalty, drives future demand for the company products, and safeguards future cash flows (Mogos Descotes & Pauwels-Delassus, 2015). P1 shared,

Brand reputation is one of the most important factors for creating a competitive advantage for a business. My customers demonstrate brand loyalty by purchasing the products from my website rather than other companies because customers recognize the brand and already had a good experience through purchasing my products.

To generate customer value and to maintain a competitive advantage, small business owners and marketers implement a branding strategy as the most important marketing tool (Mogos Descotes & Pauwels-Delassus, 2015). Effective brand management activities lead to strong brand awareness and a positive image for companies. Effective brand management activities result in increasing the price of the products and building loyal customers (Agostini et al., 2015). P2 stated the real customer is the one who recognizes the brand and repeats the purchase. P2 added, "I work hard to enhance brand reputation and the business cannot survive with only one-time buyers." P3 noted that online fashion jewelry business owners achieve sustainability by building a trustworthy brand and by increasing the brand reputation by implementing Internet marketing strategies. My review of company documents, including marketing plans, revealed a positive relationship between brand management activities and profitability. All marketing plans included a brand positioning section to generate a unique impression in customers' minds about companies and their products. The brand positioning section

of the marketing plans included information about companies' target customers, products' attributes, companies' goals, companies' competitors, the definition of their brand's persona, and key messaging development steps. The literature supported the brand-building strategy theme as an effective Internet marketing tool to increase the sustainability and profitability of businesses.

Business leaders achieve a sustainable competitive advantage by implementing differentiation strategy (Porter, 1985). Business owners and marketing managers establish a successful product differentiation strategy to achieve brand loyalty among customers (Agostini et al., 2015). Small business owners and marketers refer to the brand as the most important reputational asset for any organization (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Online fashion jewelry business owners create a competitive advantage through positive customer reviews and by developing a positive brand reputation. Online fashion jewelry business owners can implement brand management strategies to create a powerful brand as a competitive advantage to achieving sustainability and profitability. Online fashion jewelry business owners use branding as the most important source of competitive advantage by offering unique products and occupying a distinctive and desirable place in customers' minds compared to other online fashion jewelry businesses.

## **Theme 5: E-Mail Marketing Strategies**

Online business owners and marketers use e-mail marketing as a highly effective Internet marketing tool (Wu, Li, & Liu, 2018). Online business owners send commercial e-mails to potential and existing customers to convert potential customers into buyers and to turn one-time customers into loyal customers (Sahni, Wheeler, & Chintagunta, 2018).

Small business owners and marketers use e-mail marketing for direct sales, customer acquisition, customer retention, customer engagement, and branding (Pettman, 2016). All three participants stated they used e-mail marketing and believed that the implementation of e-mail marketing helped them to enhance sales.

Small business owners and marketers use marketing promotions as a significant element to influence customers' demands (Chong et al., 2015). Marketers use promotional e-mails for generating sales, transactional e-mails for providing customer service, and relational e-mails for engaging subscribers and nurturing the relationship with them (Wu et al., 2018). Promotional content, new-gated content, a sales announcement, a new product release, a webinar announcement, an event announcement, and trial and upgrade offers are different types of promotional e-mails (Van Bokhaven et al., 2015). Order confirmation, purchase receipts, shipping notices, account creation, and return confirmation are some types of transactional e-mails. Relational e-mails include new subscriber welcome messages, gated content delivery, newsletters, event confirmations, and surveys (Wu et al., 2018). P1 recommended the implementation of e-mail marketing to offer promotions and coupons as one of the most important strategies to retain customers.

Marketers create more targeted contact lists by segmenting contacts according to the content they click (Pettman, 2016). Creating more targeted contact lists leads marketers to send more relevant e-mails and to achieve better results from their e-mail marketing activities (Mackintosh et al., 2017). P2 shared,

It is not easy for online fashion jewelry business owners to retain online fashion jewelry customers because a large number of options are available to them. To retain customers, online fashion jewelry business owners introduce new arrivals and offer marketing promotions and coupons by using e-mail marketing and social media accounts.

Business owners send personalized e-mails including welcome, birthday, and anniversary, and other milestone messages to build a stronger relationship with customers and to increase sales (Wu et al., 2018). P3 suggested the implantation of e-mail marketing to inform customers about new arrivals and to create demand among customers. P3 added that sending marketing promotions and coupons via e-mail encourages customers to purchase new products. By reviewing companies marketing plan, I found that online fashion jewelry business owners and marketers write a marketing plan to show how their products are better than or different from the competitors' products. All marketing plan I reviewed included e-mail marketing strategies to generate leads and to increase sales at low cost.

Business owners and marketers understand, admit, and implement Porter's competitive advantage to adjust their strategies to suit their competitive environment (Chong et al., 2015). Small business owners use e-mail marketing strategies to differentiate their market position among their competitors (Pettman, 2016). The implementation of e-mail marketing strategy enables online fashion jewelry business owners to create competitive advantage by reducing the marketing budget, increasing brand recognition, connecting with the target market, attracting new customers, and

generating a new stream of income. Online fashion jewelry business owners use e-mail marketing strategies as a competitive advantage to enhance business relationships with current and former customers to encourage repeat business and customer loyalty. Online fashion jewelry business owners gain a competitive advantage by using e-mail marketing and offering a greater value than competitors.

## Theme 6: Marketing Strategies for Customer Relationship Management

Customer relationship management refers to special guidelines, principles, and practices that organizational leaders follow to interact with customers and to enhance customers' positive experiences (Erragcha & Romdhane, 2014). Company websites, social media accounts, e-mails, phone calls, and mass mailings are elements of customer relationship management. Understanding and recognizing customers' needs by business owners and marketers is the most important tenet of customer relationship management (Park & Nicolau, 2015). P2 noted,

To achieve profitability and sustainability, online fashion jewelry business owners should focus on customers' persona rather than only focusing on products. After reading and analyzing customers' reviews and feedback, I add new and customized products to respond to customers' needs and wants.

Business leaders implement customer relationship management to increase sales and profits significantly (Van Bokhaven et al., 2015). Business owners and marketers use consumer reviews to monitor customers' feedback and to communicate with current and potential customers (Elena, 2016). P2 stated online business owners apply the customer relationship marketing strategy by monitoring customers' feedback to ensure they had a

pleasant experience when purchasing products. P2 mentioned, "by reading customers' reviews, I concluded the majority of my products met and exceeded customers' expectations."

Small business owners and marketers prioritize customer retention and they believe that returning customers are more valuable than first-time buyers because, on average, returning customers purchase double the number of products compared to new customers (Choudhury & Harrigan, 2014). P1 noted, "to keep customers happy and to retain customers, I have a full team of customer service representatives answering emails, phone calls, and questions about products." P3 recommended online fashion jewelry business owners to implement the customer relationship management strategy by offering great customer service and free and easy returns to create competitive advantages.

The focus of customer relationship management is to put customers as the first priority of any business (Jussila et al., 2014). Through the marketing strategies for customer relationship management, company leaders frequently change their business structures based on customers' wants rather than on what their companies offer (Dessart, Veloutsou, & Morgan-Thomas, 2015). Customer relationship management strategists recommend small business owners and marketers collect all customers' data to determine suitable customer relationship activities based on collected data (Jussila et al., 2014). Customer relationship managers educate employees about customer relationship management and the company's vision for customer relationship (Fang, Xiaoling, Minue, & Palmatier, 2015). Small business owners and marketers ensure they collect adequate

resources, including time, money, and employees, for customer relationship activities to achieve customer relationship management objectives. The review of companies' marketing plan as the second source of data for this study revealed that all companies included marketing strategies for customer relationship management in their marketing plans to enhance better customer service and to increase customer loyalty.

Leaders and business owners implementing Porter's (1985) competitive advantage strategy can minimize costs and generate profit for their business (Farrell, 2015). Online fashion jewelry business owners create a competitive advantage by using customer relationship strategies to create strong relationships with customers at low cost. Marketing strategies for customer relationship management, as a competitive advantage, enable business owners to improve customer acquisition and customer retention (Bettencourt et al., 2015). The literature supported the marketing strategies for customer relationship management theme and indicated the effectiveness of this marketing tool to achieve sustainability and profitability.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

The study findings can help small business owners and marketers to develop a greater understanding of effective Internet marketing strategies to increase profitability and sustainability. I interpreted and analyzed the participants' interview responses and analyzed the company documents to determine six themes: (a) Internet marketing strategies, (b) social media marketing strategies, (c) market research and retargeting strategies, (d) brand building strategies, (e) e-mail marketing strategies, and (f) marketing strategies for customer relationship management. The effective Internet marketing

strategies found in this research study are applicable and important for small business owners and marketers to generate sales.

The six themes generated from this research study contribute to a greater understanding of effective Internet marketing strategies. Jablonski (2016) noted business owners rely on marketing capabilities and skills to generate sales to achieve sustainability and profitability. The marketing process evolved and became a strategic activity through building long-term relationships between buyers and sellers (Choudhury & Harrigan, 2014). Sellers are no longer the order takers, and their role changed to being relationship managers (Beck, Chapman, & Palmatier, 2015). The implication of effective Internet marketing strategies as innovative and low-cost tools enables business owners and marketers to enhance communication with customers, attract new customers, retain existing customers, and manage customer relationships (Tsimonis & Dimitriadis, 2014). The results of this research revealed that small business managers implement marketing strategies for customer relationship management to build and maintain long-term relationships with customers.

All participants emphasized the power of social media, Internet marketing, and research strategy as effective and relatively low-cost marketing strategies. In this study, I found the importance of brand building strategies to enhance brand awareness and brand loyalty that lead to sustainability and profitability. Study findings align with the competitive advantage theory because implementing effective Internet marketing strategies as a competitive advantage enables online fashion jewelry business owners to build a strong brand and increase sales, which leads to sustainability and profitability.

# **Implications for Social Change**

The alignment of the competitive advantage theory and the reflection of the research study findings may help online fashion jewelry business owners to remain competitive by recognizing and understanding effective Internet marketing strategies. Using effective Internet marketing strategies helps small business owners to increase profit levels and to decrease the risk of failure (Stelmokien & Endriulaitiene, 2015). The implication of effective Internet marketing strategies could result in positive social change, including job creation and economic growth. The findings may contribute to improving the standard of living for the community by increasing disposable income and homeownership.

By developing effective Internet marketing strategies, online fashion jewelry business owners have the opportunity to improve the local community and make it a better place to live by creating more jobs and stabilizing the social economy. The results of this research study may contribute to positive social change by increasing tax revenue and the state budget. An increase in state budget may enable government leaders to approve new schools, libraries, and other public services. The findings of this study may increase the quality of life for stay-at-home parents running online businesses by offering significant Internet marketing knowledge to increase business longevity and profitability. The results of this study may provide valuable knowledge to disadvantaged individuals so they can operate successful online businesses, which may lead to stronger and safer communities

#### **Recommendations for Action**

In this qualitative multiple case study research, I explored the effective Internet marketing strategies that successful online fashion jewelry business owners have implemented to increase sustainability and profitability. Small business owners and marketers modify their marketing plan to overcome the marketing challenges they face over time (Kachaner, King, & Stewart, 2016). Based on my professional experience of having an online fashion jewelry business a few years ago, I learned that the profit margin for fashion jewelry products is at least 50%. The high profit margin of fashion jewelry products creates an attractive market for entrepreneurs. The implementation of recommendations from this research study may assist online fashion jewelry business owners, entrepreneurs, and stay-at-home parents desiring to have their own business to apply effective Internet marketing strategies to create a competitive advantage and a sustainable and profitable business.

After conducting this research study, four recommended steps emerged: (a) develop a marketing plan (b) sell on Amazon, (c) implement a market research strategy, and (d) implement social media and e-mail marketing. The first recommendation is to develop a marketing plan by determining specific goals, setting a budget for marketing activities, selecting the most effective and tractable Intent marketing tools, measuring the results of marketing activities, and modifying the marketing plan based on the results. Online fashion jewelry business owners should follow the marketing plan by working hard to achieve sustainability and profitability. The second recommendation for entrepreneurs and stay-at-home parents with limited resources is to use the Amazon

platform to sell their products. After starting an Amazon seller account, online fashion jewelry business owners should use all available Internet marketing tools to attract customers and promote their products on their Amazon store. The third recommendation is to increase sustainability and profitability by implementing market research strategies and retargeting companies to target potential customers carefully. Online fashion jewelry business owners should use the market research strategy to monitor market trends, explore interest in the target market, and adjust products to respond to customers' needs.

The fourth recommendation for online fashion jewelry business owners is to use social media as a powerful Internet marketing tool to build strong relationships with customers, create brand awareness, and enhance the effectiveness of customer relationship and brand-building strategies. Online fashion jewelry business owners should use e-mail marketing to introduce new arrivals, send coupons and promotional offers, and raise sales and profit levels. All research participants indicated they offer premium quality products at a reasonable price, provide superior customer service for customer acquisition and customer retention, and use customer relationship and brand-building strategies as the most influential elements to achieve a competitive advantage. The recommendations for action include the information required to develop effective Internet marketing strategies for online fashion jewelry business owners. As opportunities arise, I plan to publish this study in a peer-reviewed business journal. I will also share the results of this research study with individuals attending business and marketing forums, training seminars, and events.

## **Recommendations for Further Research**

This qualitative research study involved exploring the effective Internet marketing strategies that online fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or increase profit levels. The study participants included three online fashion jewelry business owners located in the northeast region of the United States. Other researchers may conduct a quantitative study to expand the findings of this study by determining which Internet marketing strategies are the most effective for company owners to increase profit levels and longevity of their businesses. Researchers may also conduct further research by expanding the location to a more diverse geographic region to enhance the results of this study.

Another recommendation for further research to enhance the findings of this study could be to conduct a study to explore effective Internet marketing strategies to increase profit levels in other industries and other lines of business. The results of this study revealed effective Internet marketing strategies that online fashion jewelry business owners used to increase profit including: (a) Internet marketing strategies, (b) social media marketing strategies, (c) market research and retargeting strategies, (d) brand building strategies, (e) e-mail marketing strategies, and (f) marketing strategies for customer relationship management. The findings of this research study contribute to the existing foundation of scholarly knowledge.

Researchers should identify other important factors affecting the sustainability and profitability of online fashion jewelry businesses. Researchers may explore additional knowledge, insights, and strategies that may be valuable to online fashion

jewelry business owners by conducting more research in these areas. Conducting further research to explore effective Internet marketing strategies implemented by online fashion jewelry business owners could provide further insights into the existing literature.

## Reflections

By writing this research study and completing the Walden University's Doctor of Business Administration program, I have achieved my lifelong education goal and aspiration. Valuable resources including faculty, online forums, and classmates at Walden University provided me vital support to complete the program. I used to own an online fashion jewelry business and my passion to develop and implement effective Internet marketing strategies was the reason I started the doctoral program. However, I eliminated my personal bias from my personal experience to increase the reliability of study findings. The biggest challenge I faced when conducting this research study was locating participants meeting the eligibility criteria.

My knowledge and perspective about marketing theories and strategies significantly expanded after conducting this research study and reviewing the existing literature. The findings of the study affected my professional perspective by confirming the power of marketing efforts, including the continuous learning, developing, and implementing effective Internet marketing strategies to achieve the sustainability and profitability of online fashion jewelry businesses. I hope entrepreneurs and online fashion jewelry business owners will use these study findings to maintain sustainability and profitability.

#### Conclusion

The findings of this multiple case study research revealed that online fashion jewelry business owners can successfully implement effective Internet marketing strategies to achieve sustainability and profitability through maintaining strong customer relationships with customers and building a powerful brand. All participants emphasized direct relationships between using effective Internet marketing strategies and achieving success. The implementation of competitive advantage theory as the conceptual framework for this study provided a greater understanding of effective Internet marketing strategies for online fashion jewelry business owners to increase sales, attract new customers, retain existing customers, and stay ahead of their competitors.

The successful online fashion jewelry business owners participating in this study focused on six principal areas regarding effective Internet marketing strategies: (a)

Internet marketing strategies, (b) social media marketing strategies, (c) market research and retargeting strategies, (d) brand building strategies, (e) e-mail marketing strategies, and (f) marketing strategies for customer relationship management. I recommend online fashion jewelry business owners, entrepreneurs, stay-at-home parents, and academic scholars aim to achieve a greater understanding of effective Internet marketing strategies by using the findings and recommendations contained in this research study.

#### References

- Abdullah, J. B., Hamali, J. H., & Abdullah, F. (2015). Success strategies in Islamic market mix. *International Journal of Business and Society*, *16*, 480-499.

  Retrieved from http://www.feb.unimas.my
- Achrol, R. S., & Gundlach, G. T. (2014). Network organization and systems competition:

  A marketing analysis. *Antitrust Bulletin*, *59*, 743-768.

  doi:10.1177/0003603x1405900403
- Ackaradejruangsri, P. (2015). Know me, like me, follow me, engage me, buy me: The growing marketplace for new business ventures in Thailand. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 19, 33-47. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/academy-of-marketing-studies-journal/
- Aghadavood, R., & Askari, Z. (2014). The study of the effects of customer loyalty strategies on sale improvement of company (case study: Kayla's company).

  \*International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 4, 141-157. Retrieved from http://www.hrmars.com
- Agnihotri, R., Dingus, R., Hu, M. Y., & Krush, M. T. (2016). Social media: Influencing customer satisfaction in B2B sales. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *53*, 172-180. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.09.003
- Agostini, L., Filippini, R., & Nosella, A. (2015). Brand-building efforts and their association with SME sales performance. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 53, 161-173. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12185

- Ahmed, S., Ting, D. H., & Johl, S. K. (2015). An evidence of the seamless experience:

  Touchy promotional campaign. *Global Business and Management Research*, 7,
  63-70. Retrieved from http://www.gbmr.ioksp.com
- Aij, K. H., Visse, M., Widdershoven, G. A. M. (2015). Lean leadership: An ethnographic study. *Leadership in Health Services*, 28, 119-134. doi:10.1108/lhs-03-2014-0015
- Akhtar, N., Azeem, S. M., & Mir, G. M. (2014). Strategic role of internet in SMEs growth strategies. *International Journal of Business Management and Economic Research*, *5*, 20-27. Retrieved from http://www.ijbmer.com/
- Alalwan, A. A., Rana, N. P., Algharabat, R., & Tarhini, A. (2016). A systematic review of extant literature in social media in the marketing perspective. *Social Media:*The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly, 13, 79-89. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-45234-08
- Al-Dmour, H., Al-Madani, S., Alansari, I., Tarhini, A., & Al-Dmour, R. H. (2016).
   Factors affecting the effectiveness of cause-related marketing campaign:
   Moderating effect of sponsor-cause congruence. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 8, 114. doi:10.5539/ijms.v8n5p114
- Anderson, A. R., & Ullah, F. (2014). The condition of smallness: How what it means to be small deters firms from getting bigger. *Management Decision*, *52*, 326-349. doi:10.1108/md-10-2012-0734
- Andraski, M. P., Chandler, C., Powell, B., Humes, D., & Wakefield, S. (2014). Bridging the divide: HIV prevention research and black men who have sex with men.

  \*American Journal of Public Health, 104, 708-714. Retrieved from http://ajph.aphapublications.org/

- Artinger, S., & Powell, T. C. (2015). Entrepreneurial failure: Statistical and psychological explanations. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*, 1047-1064. doi:10.1002/smj.2378
- Ashley, C., & Tuten, T. (2014). Creative strategies in social media marketing: An exploratory study of branded social content and consumer engagement.

  \*Psychology & Marketing, 32, 15-27. doi:10.1002/mar.20761
- Atanassova, I., & Clark, L. (2015). Social media practices in SME marketing activities: A theoretical framework and research agenda. *Journal of Customer Behaviour*, *14*, 163-183. doi:10.1362/147539215x14373846805824
- Azadi, S., & Rahimzadeh, E. (2012). Developing marketing strategy for electronic business by using McCarthy's four marketing mix model and Porter's five competitive forces. *EMAJ: Emerging Markets Journal*, *2*, 46-58. doi:10.5195/emaj.2012.25
- Bacile, T. J., Swilley, E., & Ye, C. (2014). From firm-controlled to consumer-contributed: Consumer co-production of personal media marketing communication. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, *28*, 117-133. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2013.12.001
- Baker, A. M., Donthu, N., & Kumar, V. (2015). Investigating how word of mouth conversations about brands influence purchase and retransmission intentions.

  \*\*Journal of Marketing Research, 53, 225-239. doi:10.1509/jmr.14.0099

- Barnes, N. G., & Jacobsen, S. L. (2014). Missed eWOM opportunities: A cross-sector analysis of online monitoring behavior. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 20, 147-158. doi:10.1080/13527266.2013.797788
- Baum, D., & Spann, M. (2014). The interplay between online consumer reviews and recommender systems: An experimental analysis. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 19, 129-162. doi:10.2753/jec1086-4415190104
- Beck, J. T., Chapman, K., & Palmatier, R. W. (2015). Understanding relationship marketing and loyalty program effectiveness in global markets. *Journal of International Marketing*, 23, 1-21. doi:10.1509/jim.15.0010
- Bello, B., & Ivanov, S. (2014). Growth strategies for very small organizations: A case study of a very small entrepreneurship. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 6, 51-53. Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Berglund, H. (2015). Between cognition and discourse: Phenomenology and the study of entrepreneurship. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 21, 472-488. doi:10.1108/ijebr-12-2013-0210
- Bettencourt, L. A., Blocker, C. P., Houston, M. B., & Flint, D. J. (2015). Rethinking customer relationships. *Business Horizons*, *58*, 99-108. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2014.09.003
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19, 426-432. doi:10.1108/qmr-06-2016-0053

- Bodlaj, M., & Rojsek, I. (2014). Marketing in small firms: The case of Slovenia.

  \*Economic and Business Review, 16, 101-119. Retrieved from http://www.ebrjournal.net/
- Brewis, J. (2014). The ethics of researching friends: On convenience sampling in qualitative management and organization studies. *British Journal of Management*, 25, 849-862. doi:10.1111/1467-8551.12064
- Brison, N. T., Baker, T. A., III, & Byon, K. K. (2015). Facebook likes and sport brand image: An empirical examination of the national advertising division's coastal contacts' decision. *Journal of Legal Aspects of Sport*, *25*, 104-122. doi:10.1123/jlas.2014-0018
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). From subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research.

  \*American Journal of Public Health, 105, 900-908. Retrieved from http://www.ajph.aphapublications.org/
- Bronner, F., & de Hoog, R. (2014). Social media and consumer choice. *International Journal of Market Research*, *56*, 51-71. doi:10.2501/ijmr-2013-053
- Brown-Peterson, A. J. (2017). Successful Facebook marketing strategies by Missouri small businesses: A qualitative case study (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10284766)
- Bunakov, V., Jones, C., Matthews, B., & Wilson, M. (2014). Data authenticity and data value in policy-driven digital collections. *OCLC Systems & Services*:

- International Digital Library Perspectives, 30, 212-231. doi:10.1108/oclc-07-2013-0025
- Buil, I., De Chernatony, L., & Martinez, E. (2013). Examining the role of advertising and sales promotions in brand equity creation. *Journal of Business Research*, 66, 115-122. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.07.030
- Bukhari, S. M. F., Ghoneim, A., Dennis, C., & Jamjoom, B. (2013). The antecedents of travellers' e-satisfaction and intention to buy airline tickets online. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 26, 624-641. doi:10.1108/jeim-07-2013-0040
- Burau, V., & Andersen, L. B. (2014). Professions and professionals: Capturing the changing role of expertise through theoretical triangulation. *American Journal of Economics & Sociology*, 73, 264-293. doi:10.1111/ajes.12062
- Campbell, C., Cohen, J., & Ma, J. (2014). Advertisements just aren't advertisements anymore. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *54*, 7-10. doi:10.2501/jar-54-1-007010
- Caniels, M. J., Lenaerts, H. L., & Gelderman, C. J. (2015). Explaining the Internet usage of SMEs. *Internet Research*, 25, 358-377. doi:10.1108/intr-12-2013-0266
- Cant, M. C., Wiid, J. A., & Kallier, S. M. (2015). Product strategy: Factors that influence product strategy decisions of SMEs in South Africa. *Journal of Applied Business*\*Research\*, 31, 621-630. doi:10.19030/jabr.v31i2.9158
- Castleberry, A. (2014). NVivo 10 software program. Version 10. QSR international; 2012. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 78, 1-2. doi:10.5688/ajpe78125

- Cesaroni, F. M., & Consoli, D. (2015). Are small businesses really able to take advantage of social media? *Electronic Journal of Knowledge Management*, *13*, 257-268.

  Retrieved from http://www.ejkm.com/main.html
- Chae, J. (2017). Explaining females' envy toward social media influencers. *Media Psychology*, *3*, 1-17. doi:10.1080/15213269.2017.1328312
- Chen, F., Deng, P., Wan, J., Zhang, D., Vasilakos, A. V., & Rong, X. (2015). Data mining for the internet of things: Literature review and challenges. *International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks*, 2015, 12-26. doi:10.1155/2015/431047
- Chen, J. V., Su, B., & Widjaja, A. E. (2016). Facebook C2C social commerce: A study of online impulse buying. *Decision Support Systems*, 83, 57-69. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2015.12.008
- Chin, C., Lu, H., & Wu, C. (2015). Facebook users' motivation for clicking the like button. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 43, 579-592. doi:10.2224/sbp.2015.43
- Chong, A. Y., Ch'ng, E., Liu, M. J., & Li, B. (2015). Predicting consumer product demands via big data: The roles of online promotional marketing and online reviews. *International Journal of Production Research*, *55*, 5142-5156. doi:10.1080/00207543.2015.1066519
- Choudhury, M. M., & Harrigan, P. (2014). CRM to social CRM: the integration of new technologies into customer relationship management. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 22, 149-176. doi:10.1080/0965254X.2013.876069

- Clark, E. G. (2017). *Integrating consumer feedback into business marketing strategies*(Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10256053)
- Cleary, P. (2015). An empirical investigation of the impact of management accounting on structural capital and business performance. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, *16*, 566-586. doi:10.1108/jic-10-2014-0114
- Corderio, W. P. (2013). Small businesses ignore strategic planning at their peril.

  \*Academy of Business Research Journal, 3, 22-30. Retrieved from http://www.aobronline.com/
- Corsi, S., & Di Minin, A. (2014). Disruptive innovation in reverse: Adding a geographical dimension to disruptive innovation theory. *Creativity & Innovation Management*, 23, 76-90. doi:10.1111/caim.12043
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21, 19-27. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Cronin-Gilmore, J. (2012). Exploring marketing strategies in small businesses. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, *6*, 96-107. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmdcopen.html
- Dehghani, M., & Tumer, M. (2015). A research on effectiveness of Facebook advertising on enhancing purchase intention of consumers. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 49, 597-600. doi:10.1016/j.chb.201
- Demyen, S., & Ciurea, J. (2014). Trends and implications regarding strategy development at SME level. *Analele Universitatii Eftimie Murgu Resita. Fascicola*

- II. Studii Economice, 2014, 66-71. Retrieved from http://www.analefseauem.ro/index/language-english/
- Dessart, L., Veloutsou, C., & Morgan-Thomas, A. (2015). Consumer engagement in online brand communities: A social media perspective. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 24, 28-42. doi:10.1108/JPBM-06-2014-0635
- De Veirman, M., Cauberghe, V., & Hudders, L. (2017). Marketing through Instagram influencers: The impact of number of followers and product divergence on brand attitude. *International Journal of Advertising*, *36*, 798-828. doi:10.1080/02650487.2017.1348035
- Dlodlo, N., & Mafini, C. (2014). The relationship between internet marketing paybacks and firm productivity: Perspectives from Zimbabwean SMEs. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 5, 21-31. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n8p21
- Duan, N. Q., Bhaumik, D. K., Palinkas, L. A., & Hoagwood, K. (2014). Optimal design and purposeful sampling: Complementary methodologies for implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 524-532. doi:10.1007/s10488-014-0596-7
- Dwesar, R., & Rao, V. (2014). The skeptic consumer: Is information presented through advertisement and online reviews perceived differently. *Asia Pacific Marketing Review*, *3*, 19-29. Retrieved from http://asiapacific.edu
- Eid, R., & El-Gohary, H. (2013). The impact of e-marketing use on small business enterprises' marketing success. *Service Industries Journal*, *33*, 31-50. doi:10.1080/02642069.2011.594878

- Ellison, N. B., Vitak, J., Gray, R., & Lampe, C. (2014). Cultivating social resources on social network sites: Facebook relationship maintenance behaviors and their role in social capital processes. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 19, 855-870. doi:10.1111/jcc4.12078
- Elena, C. A. (2016). Social media: A strategy in developing customer relationship management. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *39*, 785-790. doi:10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30266-0
- Elmahgop, O. F., Wahab, A., Elzein, M., & Edrees, A. (2015). Small businesses financial and marketing constraints: Tabuk region. *Business Management Dynamics*, 4, 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.bmdynamics.com/
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*, 13-35. doi:10.1163/156916212x632943
- Erragcha, N., & Romdhane, R. (2014). New faces of marketing in the era of the web:

  From marketing 1.0 to marketing 3.0. *Journal of Research in Marketing*, 2, 137-145. doi:10.17722/jorm.v2i2.46
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5, 1-4. doi:10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Evans, N. G. (2016). Sustainable competitive advantage in tourism organizations: A strategic model applying service dominant logic and tourism's defining

- characteristics. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, *18*, 14-25. doi:10.1016/j.tmp.2015.12.015
- Faden, R. R., Beauchamp, T. L., & Kass, N. E. (2014). Informed consent, comparative effectiveness, and learning health care. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *370*, 766-768. Retrieved from http://www.nejm.org
- Fang, E., Xiaoling, L., Minue, H., & Palmatier, R. W. (2015). Direct and indirect effects of buyers and sellers on search advertising revenues in business-to-business electronic platforms. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *52*, 407-422. doi:10.1509/jmr.13.0165
- Farrell, B. (2015). Using interviews to improve relationships with library partners: A case study. *Reference Services Review*, *43*, 251-261. doi:10.1108/rsr-01-2015-0001
- Flanagin, A. J., Metzger, M. J., Pure, R., Markov, A., & Hartsell, E. (2014). Mitigating risk in ecommerce transactions: Perceptions of information credibility and the role of user-generated ratings in product quality and purchase intention. *Electronic Commerce Research*, 14, 1-23. doi:10.1007/s10660-014-9139-2
- Fox, G., & Longart, P. (2016). Electronic word-of-mouth: Successful communication strategies for restaurants. *Tourism and Hospitality Management*, 22, 211-223. doi:10.20867/thm.22.2.5
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu

- Goodrum, A. (2015). How to maneuver in the world of negative online reviews, the important ethical considerations for attorneys, and changes needed to protect the legal profession. *Information & Communications Technology Law*, 24, 164-182. doi:10.1080/13600834.2015.1042568
- Guercini, S. (2014). New qualitative research methodologies in management. *Management Decision*, *52*, 662-674. doi:10.1108/md-11-2013-0592
- Gundala, R. R., & Khawaja, H. (2014). Brand management in small and medium enterprise: Evidence from Dubai, UAE. *Global Journal of Business Research*, 8, 27-38. doi:10.1057/bm.2012.49
- Halabi, C. E., & Lussier, R. N. (2014). A model for predicting small firm performance:
   Increasing the probability of entrepreneurial success in Chile. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 21, 4-25. doi:10.1108/jsbed-10-2013-0141
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & De Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*, 498-501. doi:10.1093/humrep/dev334
- Han, Y. (2015). Cloud storage for digital preservation: Optimal uses of Amazon S3 and Glacier. *Library Hi Tech*, *33*, 261-271. doi:10.1108/lht-12-2014-0118
- Hand, C., & Singh, J. (2014). Segmenting the betting market in England. *International Journal of Market Research*, 56, 111-127. doi:10.2501/ijmr-2013-060
- Haniff, S. M., & Halim, M. A. (2014). Marketing capabilities and performance of SMEs in food and beverages industry in Malaysia. *International Journal of Academic Research*, 6, 187-195. doi:10.7813/2075-4124.2014/6-1/B.26

- Hanks, L., Line, N. D., & Mattila, A. S. (2015). The impact of self-service technology and the presence of others on cause-related marketing programs in restaurants.

  \*Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management, 25, 547-562.\*

  doi:10.1080/19368623.2015.1046536
- Harland, T. (2014). Learning about case study methodology to research higher education.
   Higher Education Research & Development, 33, 1113-1122.
   doi:10.1080/07294360.2014.911253
- Harrison, K. L., & Taylor, H. A. (2016). Healthcare resource allocation decisions affecting uninsured services. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 30, 1162-1182. doi:10.1108/jhom-01-2016-0003
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2013). Qualitative approaches to mixed methods practice. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 16, 455-468. doi:10.1177/1077800410364611
- Hodis, M. A., Sriramachandramurthy, R., & Sashittal, H. C. (2015). Interact with me on my terms: A four segment Facebook engagement framework for marketers.
   Journal of Marketing Management, 31, 1255-1284.
   doi:10.1080/0267257x.2015.1012535
- Hoeber, L., & Shaw, S. (2017). Contemporary qualitative research methods in sport management. *Sport Management Review*, 20, 4-7. doi:10.1016/j.smr.2016.11.005
- Hollebeek, L. D., Glynn, M. S., & Brodie, R. J. (2014). Consumer brand engagement in social media: Conceptualization, scale development and validation. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28, 149-165. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2013.12.002

- Holt, G. D., & Goulding, J. S. (2014). Conceptualisation of ambiguous-mixed-methods within building and construction research. *Journal of Engineering, Design and Technology*, 12, 244-262. doi:10.1108/jedt-02-2013-0020
- Honadle, B. W., Zapata, M. A., Auffrey, C., vom Hofe, R., & Looye, J. (2014).

  Developmental evaluation and the stronger economies together initiative in the

  United States. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 43, 64-72.

  doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2013.11.004
- Hopp, T., & Barker, V. (2016). Investigating the influence of age, social capital affinity, and flow on positive outcomes reported by e-commerce site users. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 35, 380-393. doi:10.1080/0144929x.2016.1166520
- Hoque, Z., Covaleski, M. A., & Gooneratne, T. N. (2013). Theoretical triangulation and pluralism in research methods in organizational and accounting research.
  Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 26, 1170-1198. doi:10.1108/aaaj-may-2012-01024
- Huang, Z., & Benyoucef, M. (2015). User preferences of social features on social commerce websites: An empirical study. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 95, 57-72. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2014.03.005
- Humphreys, L., & Wilken, R. (2014). Social media, small businesses, and the control of information. *Information, Communication & Society, 18*, 295-309.doi:10.1080/1369118x.2014.989249
- Iskandarsyah, A., de Klerk, C., Suardi, D. R., Soemitro, M. P., Sadarjoen, S. S., & Passchier, J. (2014). Psychosocial and cultural reasons for delay in seeking help

- and nonadherence to treatment in Indonesian women with breast cancer: A qualitative study. *Health Psychology*, *33*, 214-221. doi:10.1037/a0031060
- Izvercianu, M. & Miclea, S. (2015). Marketing practices in SMEs. Case study: Malta.

  \*Review of Management and Economic Engineering, 14, 403-415. Retrieved from http://www.rmee.org
- Jablonski, A. (2016). Scalability of sustainable business models in hybrid organizations. *Sustainability*, 8, 194-230. doi:10.3390/su803019
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17, 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Jambulingamis, M., Sumathi, C., & Rajagopal, G. R. (2016). Barriers of venturing into Facebook commerce among SMEs. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 21, 1-9. Retrieved from http://www.icommercecentral.com/
- Johnson, B. (2014). Ethical issues in shadowing research. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 9, 21-40. doi:10.1108/grom-09-2012-1099
- Jones, N., Borgman, R., & Ulusoy, E. (2015). Impact of social media on small businesses. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 22, 611-632. doi:10.1108/jsbed-09-2013-0133
- Jussila, J. J., Karkkainen, H., & Aramo-Immonen, H. (2014). Social media utilization in business-to-business relationships of technology industry firms. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 30, 606-613. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2013.07.047

- Kachaner, N., King, K., & Stewart, S. (2016). Four best practices for strategic planning. Strategy & Leadership, 44(4), 26-31. doi:10.1108/sl-06-2016-0046
- Kannan, P., & Li, H. (2017). Digital marketing: A framework, review and research agenda. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, *34*, 22-45. doi:10.1016/j.ijresmar.2016.11.006
- Kaya, N. (2015). Corporate entrepreneurship, generic competitive strategies, and firm performance in small and medium-sized enterprises. *Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 207, 662-668. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.10.136
- Khalique, M., & Pablos, P. (2015). Intellectual capital and performance of electrical and electronics SMEs in Malaysia. *International Journal of Learning and Intellectual Capital*, *12*, 251-263. doi:10.1504/ijlic.2015.070166
- Khamis, S., Ang, L., & Welling, R. (2016). Self-branding, micro-celebrity and the rise of social media influencers. *Celebrity Studies*, 8, 191-208. doi:10.1080/19392397.2016.1218292
- Khan, A. A. (2014). Qualitative research: A case for a multi-angle view to enhance validity. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *9*(9), 29-40. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n9p29
- Khan, N., & Lee, R. W. C. (2014). Is Facebook the future channel for marketing communications? A case of Hong Kong's upstairs cafés. Retrieved from http://www.marketing-trends-congress.com/archives/2014/pages/PDF/254.pdf

- Kihn, L., & Ihantola, E. (2015). Approaches to validation and evaluation in qualitative studies of management accounting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 12, 230-255. doi:10.1108/qram-03-2013-0012
- Klenke, K., Martin, S. M., & Wallace, R. (2016). *Qualitative research in the study of leadership* (2nd ed.). Bingley, United Kingdom: Emerald Group.
- Krishna, A., & Schwarz, N. (2014). Sensory marketing, embodiment, and grounded cognition: Implications for consumer behavior. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 24, 159-168. doi:10.1016/j.jcps.2012.03.004
- Kudeshia, C., Sikdar, P., & Mittal, A. (2016). Spreading love through fan page liking: A perspective on small scale entrepreneurs. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *54*, 257-270. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.003
- Lakshmi, S., & Mohideen, A. (2013). Issue in reliability and validity of research.

  \*International Journal of Management Research and Review, 3, 2752-2756.

  \*Retrieved from www.ijmrr.com\*
- Lastad, L., Berntson, E., Naswall, K., & Sverke, M. (2014). Do core self-evaluations and coping style influence the perception of job insecurity? *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *23*, 680-692. doi:10.1080/1359432x.2013.800678
- Lee, J. K., Lee, S., & Hansen, S. S. (2016). Source credibility in consumer-generated advertising in YouTube: The moderating role of personality. *Current Psychology*, 15, 254-261. doi:10.1007/s12144-016-9474-7

- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Leeflang, P. S. H., Verhoef, P. C., Dahlstrom, P., & Freundt, T. (2014). Challenges and solutions for marketing in a digital era. *European Management Journal*, *32*, 1-12. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2013.12.001
- Leibtag, A. (2014). Understanding branding, content strategy, and content marketing. *The Digital Crown*, 3-21. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-407674-7.00001-7
- Leoni, L. (2015). Adding service means adding knowledge: An inductive single-case study. *Business Process Management Journal*, *21*, 610-627. doi:10.1108/bpmj-07-2014-0063
- Lester, S. (2014). Professional standards, competence and capability. *Higher Education, Skills and Work-based Learning*, *4*, 31-43. doi:10.1108/heswbl-04-2013-0005
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

  \*\*Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4, 324-327. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Li, J., Tao, F., Cheng, Y., & Zhao, L. (2015). Big data in product lifecycle management.

  The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology, 81, 667-684.

  doi:10.1007/s00170-015-7151-x
- Liao, C., Hung, J., Kao, H., & Wu, C. (2014). Marketing strategy model: A conceptual framework for micro-enterprises. *Human Systems Management*, *33*, 199-206. doi:10.3233/hsm-140816

- Liu, L., Cheung, C. M., & Lee, M. K. (2016). An empirical investigation of information sharing behavior on social commerce sites. *International Journal of Information Management*, *36*, 686-699. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.03.013
- Lord, R., Bolton, N., Fleming, S., & Anderson, M. (2016). Researching a segmented market: Reflections on telephone interviewing. *Management Research Review*, 39, 786-802. doi:10.1108/mrr-01-2015-0020
- Lu, B., Fan, W., & Zhou, M. (2016). Social presence, trust, and social commerce purchase intention: An empirical research. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *56*, 225-237. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2015.11.057
- Maity, M., & Gupta, S. (2016). Mediating effect of loyalty program membership on the relationship between advertising effectiveness and brand loyalty. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 24, 462-481.
   doi:10.1080/10696679.2016.1205450
- Makani, J. (2015). Knowledge management, research data management, and university scholarship: Towards an integrated institutional research data management support-system framework. *VINE*, *45*, 344-359. doi:10.1108/vine-07-2017-0047
- Mackintosh, P., Brantley, L., Hansen, A., Lindell, J., Pietz, J., Wilck, J. H., . . . Gonzalez, G. O. (2017). Maximizing clicks in email marketing campaigns for a retail company. *International Journal of Applied Industrial Engineering*, *4*(2), 33-46. doi:10.4018/ijaie.2017070103

- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1753-1760. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444
- Mariani, M. M., Di Felice, M., & Mura, M. (2016). Facebook as a destination marketing tool: Evidence from Italian regional destination management organizations. *Tourism Management*, *54*, 321-343. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2015.12.008
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

  Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McCabe, J., & Holmes, D. (2014). Nursing, sexual health and youth with disabilities: A critical ethnography. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 77-86. doi:10.1111/jan.12167
- McCall, M., & McMahon, D. (2016). Customer loyalty program management. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, *57*, 111-115. doi:10.1177/1938965515614099
- Meuter, M. L., McCabe, D. B., & Curran, J. M. (2013). Electronic word-of-mouth versus interpersonal word-of-mouth: Are all forms of word-of-mouth equally influential? Services Marketing Quarterly, 34, 240-256. doi:10.1080/15332969.2013.798201
- Meyers, C. B. (2017). Social media influencers: A lesson plan for teaching digital advertising media literacy. *Advertising & Society Quarterly*, *18*, 20-29. doi:10.1353/asr.2017.0018
- Meyer-Waarden, L. (2015). Effects of loyalty program rewards on store loyalty. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *24*, 22-32. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2015.01.001

- Mogos Descotes, R., & Pauwels-Delassus, V. (2015). The impact of consumer resistance to brand substitution on brand relationship. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, *32*, 34-42. doi:10.1108/jcm-07-2014-1041
- Mohamad, M. M., Sulaiman, N. L., Sern, L. C., & Salleh, K. M. (2015). Measuring the validity and reliability of research instruments. *Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 204, 164-171. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.08.129
- Murshed, F., & Zhang, Y. (2016). Thinking orientation and preference for research methodology. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 33, 437-446. doi:10.1108/jcm-01-2016-1694
- Nada, N., & Ali, Z. (2015). Service value creation capability model to assess the service innovation capability in SMEs. *Procedia CIRP*, 30, 390-395. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.218
- Nadarajah, D., & Latifah Syed, A. K. (2014). A review of the importance of business process management in achieving sustainable competitive advantage. *TQM Journal*, 26, 522-531. doi:10.1108/tqm-01-2013-000
- Nam, H., & Kannan, P. (2014). The informational value of social tagging networks. *Journal of Marketing*, 78, 21-40. doi:10.1509/jm.12.0151
- Newby, M., Nguyen, T. H., & Waring, T. S. (2014). Understanding customer relationship management technology adoption in small and medium-sized enterprises: An empirical study in the USA. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 27, 541-560. doi:10.1108/jeim-11-2012-0078

- Obeidat, M., North, M., Richardson, R., Rattanak, V., & North, S. (2015). Business intelligence technology, applications, and trends. *International Management Review*, 11, 47-56. Retrieved from http://www.usimr.org/
- O'Donnell, A. (2014). The contribution of networking to small firm marketing. *Journal* of Small Business Management, 52, 164-187. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12038
- Ong, T., Mannino, M., & Gregg, D. (2014). Linguistic characteristics of shill reviews.

  \*Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 13, 69-78.

  doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2013.10.002
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, *6*, 183-246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399
- Oye, C., Sorensen, N. O., & Glasdam, S. (2016). Qualitative research ethics on the spot:

  Not only on the desktop. *Nursing Ethics*, 23, 455-464.

  doi:10.1177/0969733014567023
- Pakura, S., & Pakura, A. (2015). Effects of Facebook activities on the performance of start-ups. *Business Administration Review*, 75, 413-429. Retrieved from http://www.dbwnet.de/index.php
- Pandey, S., & Chawla, D. (2016). Using qualitative research for establishing content validity of e-lifestyle and website constructs. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 19, 339-356. doi:10.1108/qmr-05-2015-0033

- Park, S., & Nicolau, J. L. (2015). Asymmetric effects of online consumer reviews. *Annals of Tourism Research*, *50*, 67-83. doi:10.1016/j.annals.2014.10.007
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (4th ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Percy, W. H., Koster, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, *20*, 76-85. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Perry, M. (2014). Market orientation in small businesses: Creative or lacking? *Marketing Management Journal*, 24, 96-107. Retrieved from http://www.mmaglobal.org/
- Petkovska, T. (2015). The role and importance of innovation in business of small and medium enterprises. *Economic Development*, *17*, 55-74. Retrieved from http://www.iedconline.org/
- Pettman, D. (2016). *Infinite distraction: Paying attention to social media*. Malden, MA: Polity.
- Phillips, B. J., Miller, J., & McQuarrie, E. F. (2014). Dreaming out loud on Pinterest. *International Journal of Advertising*, 33, 633-655. doi:10.2501/ija-33-4-633-655
- Porter, M. E. (1985). *Competitive advantage: Creating and sustaining superior performance*. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Pousttchi, K., & Hufenbach, Y. (2014). Engineering the value network of the customer interface and marketing in the data-rich retail environment. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 18, 17-42. doi:10.2753/jec1086-4415180401

- Powell, G. N., & Eddleston, K. A. (2013). Linking family-to-business enrichment and support to entrepreneurial success: Do female and male entrepreneurs experience different outcomes? *Journal of Business Venturing*, 28, 261-280. doi:10.1016/j.jbusvent.2012.02.007
- Pyrczak, F., & Bruce, R. R. (2017). Writing empirical research reports: A basic guide for students of the social and behavioral sciences (8th ed.). New York, NY:

  Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Rad, H. S., Ghorabi, M., Rafiee, M., & Rad, V. S. (2015). Electronic customer relationship management: Opportunities and challenges of digital world. *International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics*, 2, 609-619. doi:10.2307/1251854
- Ramayah, T., Ling, N. S., Taghizadeh, S. K., & Rahman, S. A. (2016). Factors influencing SMEs website continuance intention in Malaysia. *Telematics and Informatics*, *33*, 150-164. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2015.06.007
- Reilly, G., Nyberg, A. J., Maltarich, M., & Weller, I. (2014). Human capital flows: Using contest-emergent turnover (CET) theory to explore the process by which turnover, hiring, and job demands affect satisfaction. *Academy of Management Journal*, *57*, 766-790. doi:10.5465/amj.2012.0132
- Richard, M., & Habibi, M. R. (2016). Advanced modeling of online consumer behavior:

  The moderating roles of hedonism and culture. *Journal of Business Research*, 69, 1103-1119. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.08.026

- Ritter, J. (2016). Marketing strategy in the 21st century, a review and assessment of strategies and procedures for success and implementation. *Business & Management Review*, 7, 68-79. Retrieved from http://www.bmr.businessjournalz.org/
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *11*, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Roth, V. R., Theriault, A., Clement, C., & Worthington, J. (2016). Women physicians as healthcare leaders: A qualitative study. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, *30*, 648-665. doi:10.1108/jhom-09-2014-0164
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal* of Marriage and Family, 77, 243-260. doi:10.1111/jomf.12147
- Sabate, F., Berbegal-Mirabent, J., Canabate, A., & Lebherz, P.R. (2014). Factors influencing popularity of branded content in Facebook fan pages. *European Management Journal*, 32, 1001-1011. doi:10.1016/j.emj.2014.05.001
- Sahni, N. S., Wheeler, S. C., & Chintagunta, P. (2018). Personalization in e-mail marketing: The role of noninformative advertising content. *Marketing Science*, 37, 236-258. doi:10.1287/mksc.2017.1066
- Salvador, J. T. (2016). Exploring quantitative and qualitative methodologies: A guide to novel nursing researchers. *European Scientific Journal*, *12*, 107-122. doi:10.19044/esj.2016.v12n18p107

- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Ali Cheraghi, M. (2014).
  Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics & History of Medicine*, 7, 1-6.
  doi:10.1177/0969733007086018
- Santos, O. C., & Boticario, J. G. (2013). User-centered design and educational data mining support during the recommendations elicitation process in social online learning environments. *Expert Systems*, 32, 293-311. doi:10.1111/exsy.12041
- Sargunani, S. S., & Bruce, M. M. J. (2015). Impact of product and market factors on consumer behavior: A study on personal computers purchase. *Asian Journal of Applied Sciences*, 8, 92-100. doi:10.3923/ajaps.2015.92.100
- Schaupp, L. C., & Belanger, F. (2014). The value of social media for small businesses. *Journal of Information Systems*, 28, 187-207. doi:10.2308/isys-50674
- Seal, W., & Mattimoe, R. (2016). The role of narrative in developing management control knowledge from fieldwork. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 13, 330-349. doi:10.1108/qram-06-2015-0055
- See-To, E. W., & Ho, K. K. (2014). Value co-creation and purchase intention in social network sites: The role of electronic word-of-mouth and trust—a theoretical analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *31*, 182-189. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.013
- Seitz, S. (2016). Pixilated partnerships, overcoming obstacles in qualitative interviews via Skype: A research note. *Qualitative Research*, *16*, 229-235. doi:10.1177/1468794115577011

- Setiowati, R., Hartoyo, H., Daryanto, H. K., & Arifin, B. (2015). Understanding ICT adoption determinants among Indonesian SMEs in fashion subsector. *International Research Journal of Business Studies*, 8, 47-57.

  doi:10.21632/irjbs.8.1.78.47-57
- Shabani Varaki, B., Floden, R. E., & Javidi Kalatehjafarabadi, T. (2015). Paraquantitative methodology: Reclaiming experimentalism in educational research.

  \*Open Review of Educational Research\*, 2, 26-41.

  doi:10.1080/23265507.2014.986189
- Shi, S., & Chow, W.S. (2015). Trust development and transfer in social commerce: Prior experience as moderator. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 115, 1182-1203. doi:10.1108/imds-01-2015-0019
- Small Business and Entrepreneurial Council. (2016). *Small business facts and data*.

  Retrieved from http://sbecouncil.org/about-us/facts-and-data/
- Song, G. Y., Cheon, Y., Lee, K., Lim, H., Chung, K. Y., & Rim, H. C. (2014). Multiple categorizations of products: Cognitive modeling of customers through social media data mining. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, *18*, 1387-1403. doi:10.1007/s00779-013-0740-5
- Stelmokien, A., & Endriulaitiene, A. (2015). Transformational leadership in the perception of subordinates: Personality traits and social identification as predictors. *Baltic Journal of Management, 10*, 360-381. doi:10.1108/bjm-05-2014-0084

- Sukcharoen, K., & Leatham, D. J. (2016). Dependence and extreme correlation among US industry sectors. *Studies in Economics and Finance*, *33*, 26-49. doi:10.1108/sef-01-2015-0021
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *11*, 63-75. doi:10.3316/qrj1102063
- Taneja, S., & Toombs, L. (2014). Putting a face on small businesses: Visibility, viability, and sustainability the impact of social media on small business marketing.

  \*\*Academy of Marketing Studies Journal, 18, 249-260. Retrieved from https://www.abacademies.org/journals/academy-of-marketing-studies-journal-home.html
- Tanwar, R. (2013). Porter's generic competitive strategies. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 15, 11-17. doi:10.9790/487x-1511117
- Tarka, P. (2017). Managers' beliefs about marketing research and information use in decisions in context of the bounded-rationality theory. *Management Decision*, 55, 987-1005. doi:10.1108/MD-04-2016-0234
- Teece, D. J. (2014). A dynamic capabilities-based entrepreneurial theory of the multinational enterprise. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *45*, 8-37. doi:10.1057/jibs.2013.54
- Tella, A. (2015). Electronic and paper based data collection methods in library and information science research: A comparative analysis. *New Library World*, *116*, 588-609. doi:10.1108/nlw-12-2014-0138

- Terkan, R. (2014). Importance of creative advertising and marketing according to university students' perspective. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 4, 239-246. Retrieved from https://www.econjournals.com/index.php/irmm
- Tsimonis, G., & Dimitriadis, S. (2014). Brand strategies in social media. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 32, 328-344. doi:10.1108/mip-04-2013-0056
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*, 151-155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Tirunillai, S., & Tellis, G. J. (2014). Mining marketing meaning from online chatter:

  Strategic brand analysis of big data using latent dirichlet allocation. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *51*, 463-479. doi:10.1509/jmr.12.0106
- Todericiu, R., & Stanit, A. (2015). Intellectual capital the key for sustainable competitive advantage for the SME's sector. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *27*, 676-681. doi:10.1016/s2212-5671(15)01048-5
- Toombs, L. A., & Harlow, R. M. (2014). More than just like: An entrepreneurial approach to creating a social media ethos in small firms. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, *18*, 275-286. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/affiliate-academies-ams.php
- Tseng, S. (2016). Knowledge management capability, customer relationship management, and service quality. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 29, 202-221. doi:10.1108/jeim-04-2014-0042

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont report*. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2011). *Small business economy 2011*. Retrieved from http://www.sba.gov/advocacy/7540/6282
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2016). *Frequently asked questions*. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/SB-FAQ-2016\_WEB.pdf
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, *15*, 398-405. doi:10.1111/nhs.12048
- Van Bockhaven, W. M., Matthyssens, P., & Vandenbempt, K. (2015). Drivers of institutional innovation in networks: Unleashing the innovation potential of domesticated markets. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 30, 414-435. doi:10.1108/jbim-10-2013-0220
- Vannini, P. (2015). Non-representational ethnography: New ways of animating lifeworlds. *Cultural Geographies*, 22, 317-327. doi:10.1177/1474474014555657
- VanScoy, A., & Evenstad, S. B. (2015). Interpretive phenomenological analysis for LIS research. *Journal of Documentation*, 71, 338-357. doi:10.1108/jd-09-2013-0118
- Vinerean, S., Cetina, I., Dumitrescu, L., & Tichindelean, M. (2013). The effects of social media marketing on online consumer behavior. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 66-75. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n14p66

- Wallace, M., & Sheldon, N. (2015). Business research ethics: Participant observer perspectives. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *128*, 267-277. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2102-2
- Wang, T., Yeh, R. K., Chen, C., & Tsydypov, Z. (2016). What drives electronic word-of-mouth on social networking sites? Perspectives of social capital and self-determination. *Telematics and Informatics*, 33, 1034-1047.
  doi:10.1016/j.tele.2016.03.005
- Wang, T., Yeh, R. K., & Yen, D. C. (2015). Influence of customer identification on online usage and purchasing behaviors in social commerce. *International Journal* of Human-Computer Interaction, 31, 805-814. doi:10.1080/10447318.2015.1067481
- Whitmire, A.L., Boock, M, & Sutton, S.C. (2015). Variability in academic research data management practices: Implications for data services development from a faculty survey. *Program: Electronic Library and Information Systems*, 49, 382-407. doi:10.1108/prog-02-2015-0017
- Wiid, J. A., Cant, M. C., & Roux, Z. (2016). Loyalty to SMEs: A pipe dream in the current economic climate? *Journal of Applied Business Research*, 32, 101-110. doi:10.19030/jabr.v32il.9526
- Woo, J., Ahn, J., Lee, J., & Koo, Y. (2015). Media channels and consumer purchasing decisions. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 115, 1510-1528. doi:10.1108/imds-02-2015-0036

- Woodley, C. J., Burgess, S., Paguio, R., & Bingley, S. (2014). Technology mentors:

  Enablers of ICT uptake in Australian small business. *Education and Training*, *57*, 658-672. doi:10.1108/et-08-2014-0095
- Wu, J., Li, K. J., & Liu, J. S. (2018). Bayesian inference for assessing effects of email marketing campaigns. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, *36*, 253-266. doi:10.1080/07350015.2016.1141096
- Xia, H., & Pedraza-Jimenez, R. (2015). Chinese social mediate strategies:Communication key features from a business perspective. *El Profesional De La Informacion*, 24, 200-209. doi:10.3145/epi.2015.mar.14
- Xun, J. (2014). Revisiting the two-stage choice model: An empirical study of consumer choice on brand website visits. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 33, 1192-1207. doi:10.1080/0144929x.2013.872188
- Yenipazarli, A. (2015). A road map to new product success: Warranty, advertisement and price. *Annals of Operations Research*, 226, 669-694. doi:10.1007/s10479-014-1650-2
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research design and methods* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2016). *Qualitative research from start to finish*, (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- You, Y., Vadakkepatt, G. G., & Joshi, A. M. (2015). A meta-analysis of electronic word-of-mouth elasticity. *Journal of Marketing*, 79, 19-39. doi:10.1509/jm.14.0169

- Yuksel, P., & Yildirim, S. (2015). Theoretical frameworks, methods, and procedures for conducting phenomenological studies. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*, 6, 1-20. doi:10.17569/tojqi.59813
- Zhang, H., Lu, Y., Gupta, S., & Zhao, L. (2014). What motivates customers to participate in social commerce? The impact of technological environments and virtual customer experiences. *Information & Management*, *51*, 1017-1030. doi:10.1016/j.im.2014.07.005
- Zhang, L. E., & Guttormsen, D. S. A. (2016). Multiculturality as a key methodological challenge during in-depth interviewing in international business research. *Cross Cultural & Strategic Management*, 23, 232-256. doi:10.1108/ccsm-07-2014-0084
- Zitomer, M. R., & Goodwin, D. (2014). Gauging the quality of qualitative research in adapted physical activity. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*, *31*, 193-218. doi:10.1123/apaq.2013-0084

Appendix: Interview Protocol

What I will do	What I will Say-Script
Explaining the purpose of the study and content.	The purpose of this study is to explore what effective Internet marketing strategies online fashion jewelry business owners use to maintain or increase profit levels. I would like to receive a formal acknowledgment of the volunteers willing to participate, please reply to this e-mail and include phrase "I consent" before starting the interview. You may withdraw from the study at any time and that all data will remain confidential.
<ul> <li>Asking interview questions.</li> <li>Looking for non-verbal queues.</li> <li>Paraphrasing as required.</li> <li>Asking follow-up probing questions to get more in-depth data.</li> </ul>	<ol> <li>What Internet marketing strategies do you use to maintain or improve sustainability for your business?</li> <li>What Internet marketing strategies do you use to maintain or improve profitability for your business?</li> <li>What Internet marketing strategies do you use to attract new customers?</li> <li>What Internet marketing strategies do you use to retain your customers?</li> <li>What Internet marketing strategies have you applied to obtain a competitive advantage?</li> <li>What additional information regarding Internet marketing strategies would you like to share?</li> </ol>
Scheduling follow up member checking interviews.	I will contact each participant to schedule a follow up interview to confirm the accuracy of my interpretation of participant' answers during the first interview.
Thanking the participants.	I wanted to take the opportunity to say thank you for participating in my research study on effective Internet marketing

strategies for online fashion jewelry businesses. I understand that you are very busy and sincerely appreciate your time and effort. I am currently looking for themes by assembling and exploring the collected data. I will provide you with a summary of the results of my findings after completing the research and achieving final approval of the study. Thank you again for sharing your knowledge, experiences, and insights!